

California State University, San Bernardino CSUSB ScholarWorks

Electronic Theses, Projects, and Dissertations

Office of Graduate Studies

12-2023

REPEATED TREATMENT WITH 5-HT1A AND 5-HT1B RECEPTOR AGONISTS: EVIDENCE OF TOLERANCE AND BEHAVIORAL SENSITIZATION

Jordan Taylor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/etd

Part of the Animal Studies Commons, Applied Behavior Analysis Commons, Biological Psychology Commons, Developmental Psychology Commons, Development Studies Commons, Experimental Analysis of Behavior Commons, Health Psychology Commons, and the Other Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Taylor, Jordan, "REPEATED TREATMENT WITH 5-HT1A AND 5-HT1B RECEPTOR AGONISTS: EVIDENCE OF TOLERANCE AND BEHAVIORAL SENSITIZATION" (2023). *Electronic Theses, Projects, and Dissertations*. 1797.

https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/etd/1797

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Office of Graduate Studies at CSUSB ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses, Projects, and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of CSUSB ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@csusb.edu.

REPEATED TREATMENT WITH 5-HT_{1A} AND 5-HT_{1B} RECEPTOR AGONISTS: EVIDENCE OF TOLERANCE AND BEHAVIORAL SENSITIZATION

A Thesis

Presented to the

Faculty of

California State University,

San Bernardino

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Arts

in

Psychological Sciences:

Behavioral and Cognitive Neuroscience

by

Jordan Amy Taylor

December 2023

REPEATED TREATMENT WITH 5-HT_{1A} AND 5-HT_{1B} RECEPTOR AGONISTS: EVIDENCE OF TOLERANCE AND BEHAVIORAL SENSITIZATION

A Thesis

Presented to the

Faculty of

California State University,

San Bernardino

by

Jordan Amy Taylor

December 2023

Approved by:

Dr. Cynthia Crawford, Committee Chair, Psychology

Dr. Dionisio Amodeo, Committee Member, Psychology

Dr. Leslie Amodeo, Committee Member, Psychology

© 2023 Jordan Amy Taylor

ABSTRACT

Serotonin has been found to regulate several cognitive and physiological functions, and its role in depression and other neuropsychiatric disorders has been a focus of research. More specifically, a wealth of research regarding serotonin focuses on serotonergic medications in the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders, such as depression and anxiety, and stimulates the 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} receptors. Within the last decade, there has been an increase in prescriptions of psychotropic medication for children, however, the efficacy and adverse effects of these drugs have not been evaluated in younger populations. While antidepressants reduce symptoms of depression in adults, they are less effective in reducing symptoms in children, and can result in an increased risk of suicidal behavior or ideation, social impairments, and substance abuse. For this reason, there is an urgent need to better understand how the 5-HT_{1A}, and 5-HT_{1B} receptors work in different age groups to find treatments that are efficacious in pediatric populations. RU 24969 is a preclinical serotonergic drug that binds to the serotonin 5-HT 1A and 5-HT1B receptors, that possesses antidepressant qualities in animal models. Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to investigate whether RU 24969 treatment is unique to this preclinical drug or if it is primarily mediated by the stimulation of the 5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{1B}, or both receptors. A total of 128 male and 128 female Sprague-Dawley rats were used for this study. In examining the single-trial effects of each drug, *Experiment 1A*: rats were pretreated with saline (n = 32) or 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, or 0.8 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT. After a

iii

24 hr abstinence period, rats previously treated with saline received 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, or 0.8 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT (n = 8 per group). Subjects initially treated with 8-OH-DPAT were injected with the same dose of 8-OH-DPAT again (n = 8 per group). In *Experiment 1B*: The procedure was identical to Experiment 1A, except higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (1, 2, 4, or 8 mg/kg) were administered on PD 20 and PD 22. In *Experiment 2:* The procedure was identical to Experiment 1A, with the exception that CP 94253 (2.5, 5, 10, or 20 mg/kg) was administered instead of 8-OH-DPAT. In *Experiment 3:* rats were injected with saline or the combined treatment of 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT plus 5 mg/kg CP 94253. Experiment 4: In examining the repeated effects of each drug during a PD 17-20 pretreatment phase, rats were injected with saline (n = 24) or 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT, 5 mg/kg CP 94253, or DPAT+CP (n = 8 per drug group) and immediately placed in activity chambers. On PD 22, rats previously administered saline were injected with 8-OH-DPAT, CP 94253, or DPAT+CP (n = 8 per group), whereas rats initially given one of the drug treatments were given the same drug treatment again (n = 8 per group). Distance traveled and motoric capacity were measured during each 45-minute session, while axillary temperatures were measured immediately after each session. Our findings revealed (across all experiments), all drug groups (8-OH-DPAT, CP 94253, and DPAT+CP) increased locomotor activity and caused hypothermia on the first pretreatment day. In our single-trial studies (Experiments 1-3), only 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 caused tolerance to the hypothermic effects. Additionally, CP 94253 causes tolerance to motoric

iv

impairment, while DPAT+CP causes a sensitized motoric impairment. When given repeatedly (*Experiment 4*), 8-OH-DPAT caused locomotor sensitization and tolerance to axial temperatures. CP 94253 caused tolerance to locomotor activity and axial temperatures. Lastly, DPAT+CP caused locomotor sensitization and tolerance to axial temperatures. In summary, the effects observed through single and multi- trial paradigms with the direct agonists 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 administered alone and in combination differ from the mixed agonist RU 24969. This suggests that therapeutic effects observed with RU 24969 treatment are unique and may possibly stimulate receptors that are still undiscovered.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my excellent advisor and mentor, Dr. Cynthia Crawford for her invaluable patience and feedback. She has always offered guidance, support, and numerous educational and professional opportunities, and has helped to shape me into who I am, personally and professionally. Her vast wisdom and wealth of experience has inspired me, and I am honored to have been trained in her laboratory.

I would also like to acknowledge the late Dr. McDougall for his support, guidance, and inspiration throughout the years. Additionally, I would like to express my gratitude to my wonderful committee: Dr. Dionisio Amodeo, and Dr. Leslie Amodeo. They have never hesitated to offer mentorship and advice, and their enthusiastic teaching style and passion for research has made a strong impression on me.

Lastly, I want to express my gratitude for my family. To my husband, Abel Carlin, thank you for providing me with continuous support and encouragement throughout the process of researching and writing my thesis. To my parents, Margie, and Michael Taylor, thank you for the love and support you have provided that has enabled me to achieve everything I have. To my brothers, Jensen, and Jared Taylor, I love you.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTiii			
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi			
LIST OF TABLES			
LIST OF FIGURES			
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION OF SEROTONIN1			
Serotonin and Mental Health1			
Developmental Differential Responses to Psychotropic Medication2			
CHAPTER TWO: THE SEROTONIN SYSTEM5			
Ontogeny of Serotonin Systems6			
Serotonin Receptors6			
CHAPTER THREE: BEHAVIORAL SENSITIZATION AND TOLERANCE11			
Effects of Repeated Drug Administration11			
Behavioral Sensitization12			
Behavioral Tolerance12			
Adult Sensitization and Tolerance13			
Single- trial versus Multi-trial Sensitization and Tolerance13			
Preweanling Sensitization and Tolerance15			
Behavioral Sensitization and Tolerance Using 5-HT 1A/B Agonists16			
CHAPTER FOUR: SUMMARY THESIS STATEMENT			
Experiments involving the 5-HT _{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT22			
Experiments involving the 5-HT _{1B} agonist CP 9425323			

Experiments concerning the combined treatment of 5-HT 1A and 5-HT1B agonists (8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253)	24
HAPTER FIVE: METHODS	26
Subjects	26
Apparatus	26
Drugs	27
Procedure	27
Experiment 1a. Effects of repeated low dose (0.1–0.8 mg/kg) treatment with the 5-HT _{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure	27
Experiment 1b. Effects of repeated high dose (1–8 mg/kg) treatment with the 5-HT _{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure	30
Experiment 2. Effects of repeated treatment with the 5-HT _{1B} agonist CP 94253 on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure	30
Experiment 3. Effects of combined treatment with 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure	30
Experiment 4. Effects of 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253, administered alone or together, on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats: Five-day procedure	31
Statistical Analysis	
-	

CHAPTER SIX: RESULTS	
Experiment 1A	33
Locomotor Activity	33
Axillary Temperatures	36
Motoric Capacity	
Experiment 1B	38
Locomotor Activity	
Axillary Temperatures	40
Motoric Capacity	42
Experiment 2	42
Locomotor Activity	43
Axillary Temperatures	45
Motoric Capacity	47
Experiment 3	48
Locomotor Activity	48
Axillary Temperatures	50
Motoric Capacity	52
Experiment 4	52
Locomotor Activity	53
Axillary Temperatures	57
Motoric Capacity	60
CHAPTER SEVEN: DISCUSSION	66

The E with t	Effects of a Single Pretreatment Day he 5-HT 1A Receptor Agonist 8-OH-DP	67
The E with t	Effects of a Single Pretreatment Day he 5-HT _{1B} Agonist CP 94253	69
The E 8-OH that s mg/kg	Effects of a Single Pretreatment Day with the I-DPAT and CP 94253 It was hypothesized single-trial treatment of 8-OH-DPAT (4 g	70
The E 8-OH the C DPA1	Effects of Repeated Pretreatment with the I-DPAT (4 mg/kg), CP 94253 (5 mg/kg) or co-administration of T+CP	71
	8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg)	71
	CP 94253 (5 mg/kg)	73
	Co-administration of DPAT (4 mg/kg) + CP (5 mg/kg)74	
REFERENC	ES	79

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Serotonin Receptor Subtypes	8
Table 2. Motoric Capacity Scale	29
Table 3. Experiment 1b. Effects of saline and repeated high dose $(1-8 \text{ mg/kg})$ treatment with the 5-HT _{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT on the motoric capacity scores of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure.	62
Table 4. Experiment 2. Effects of saline and repeated 5-HT _{1B} agonist CP 94253 (2.5- 20 mg/kg) on the motoric capacity scores of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure	63
Table 5. Experiment 3. Effects of combined treatment with8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 (DPAT+CP) on the motoric capacityof male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure	64
Table 6. Experiment 4. Effects of 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg),CP 94253 (5 mg/kg), or DPAT+CP on the motoric capacityof male and female preweanling rats: Five-day procedure	65

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Mean (±) distance traveled on the pretreatment day and test day of male and female preweanling rats35
Figure 2. Mean (±) axillary temperatures on the pretreatment day and test day (of male and female preweanling rats
Figure 3. Mean (±) distance traveled on the pretreatment day and test day of male and female preweanling rats
Figure 4. Mean (±) axillary temperatures on the pretreatment day and test day of male and female preweanling rats41
Figure 5. Mean (±) distance traveled on the pretreatment day and test day of male and female preweanling rats44
Figure 6. Mean (±) axillary temperatures on the pretreatment day and test day of male and female preweanling rats46
Figure 7. Mean (±) distance traveled on the pretreatment day and test day of male and female preweanling rats49
Figure 8. Mean (±) axillary temperatures on the pretreatment day and test day of male and female preweanling rats
Figure 9. Mean (±) distance traveled on the pretreatment day and test day of male and female preweanling rats
Figure 10. Mean (±) axial temperatures on the pretreatment day and test day of male and female preweanling rats60

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION OF SEROTONIN

In the early 1930s, Dr. Vittorio Erspamer combined his interests in pharmacology and physiology, and began to explore the effects of endogenous and naturally occurring compounds (Whitaker-Azmitia, 1999). He was primarily interested in substances that initiated smooth muscle constriction and contraction in enterochromaffin cells found in the gut. From these experiments, a substance was found to initiate contraction, and this substance was named serotonin (Whitaker-Azmitia, 1999; Berger, 2009). Since the time of these early experiments, serotonin has been found to regulate a number of cognitive and physiological functions, such as mood, perception, memory, reward, thermoregulation and locomotor activity to name a few (Roth et al., 2004; Sari, 2004; Arian et al., 2007; Canli et al., 2007; Berger et al., 2009; Rojas et al., 2014). Additionally, serotonin is critical for prenatal and postnatal neurodevelopment, because it is responsible for the growth and survival of neurons (Sari, 2004; Rojas et al., 2014).

Serotonin and Mental Health

Although serotonin is involved in the regulation of many important functions, its role in depression and other neuropsychiatric disorders has been a particular focus of research. More specifically, a wealth of research regarding serotonin focuses on serotonergic medications in the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders, such as depression, anxiety, autism, and Tourette's syndrome (Guo et al., 2020). For example, in a study examining the postmortem brain tissue of individuals diagnosed with major depressive disorder (MDD), a portion of them having commit suicide, resulted in a significant decrease in serotonin levels in the depressed and suicidal individuals compared to a nondepressed control group (Shaw, 1967). This finding led researchers to focus on serotonin as a therapeutic target for antidepressant drugs, and was the rationale for the serotonin hypothesis, which proposed that depression is caused by a significant reduction in serotonin in the synaptic cleft (Tiger, 2018).

Developmental Differential Responses to Psychotropic Medication

Children and adolescents often suffer from the same psychiatric disorders as adults and are treated with the same medications. According to a 2016 survey from National Health and Nutrition, 45.8% of the population in the United States has filled a prescription for psychotropic drugs within a span of 30 days, and 18% of these individuals are under the age of twelve (Martin, 2019). According to the Center for Disease Control (CDC), 60% of children diagnosed with bipolar disorder are prescribed mood stabilizers and 57% of children with depression are prescribed antidepressant medications (Bridge et al., 2007); however, the efficacy and adverse effects of these drugs have not been evaluated in younger populations (Hollander, Phillips & Yeh, 2003; Brummelte et al., 2017; Hirsch,

2018; Salokangas et al., 2018; Langerberg et al., 2019). Unfortunately, most of these treatments are less effective in pediatric populations than in adults. For example, studies examining the efficacy of pharmacological and psychological interventions on adult depressive disorders found that all interventions are effective in reducing depressive symptoms (Barth et al., 2013; Cipriani et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2020). Conversely, the same study examining psychological and pharmacological interventions in children with depressive disorders found that fluoxetine alone or in combination with cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) were more effective in decreasing depressive symptoms in children than fifteen other pharmacological interventions (Zhou et al., 2020). While antidepressants reduce symptoms of depression in adults, they are less effective in reducing symptoms in children, and antidepressants can result in an increased risk of suicidal behavior or ideation, social impairments, and substance abuse (Zhou et al., 2020).

Within the last decade, there has been an increase in prescriptions of psychotropic medication for children by clinicians who believed they were enhancing the quality of life of the pediatric population, despite the limited research on this age group (Lakhan, 2007; Spetie & Arnold, 2007). These medications may alter the underlying mechanisms of neuropsychiatric disorders that heavily influence how drugs affect their therapeutic target in the fully developed adult brain compared to the developing brain of children (Lakhan,

2007; Spetie & Arnold, 2007). For this reason, there is an urgent need to find treatments that are efficacious in pediatric populations.

In the following chapters, I will discuss serotonin systems and developmental differences in response to serotonergic drugs.

CHAPTER TWO: THE SEROTONIN SYSTEM

Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine) is a monoamine neurotransmitter involved in affective, cognitive, and physiological functioning. Approximately 95% of serotonin is found in the peripheral nervous system (PNS), where it mediates vasoconstriction and vasodilation (Whitaker-Azmitia, 1999; Berger, 2009). The remaining serotonin is located in the central nervous system (CNS), which carries out processes such as behavioral inhibition, which can be expressed as distress and withdrawal, and behavioral disinhibition, which can be expressed as impulsive and sensation-seeking behavior (Whitaker-Azmitia, 1999; Berger, 2009). Serotonin is primarily synthesized in the raphe nuclei in the brain stem, where it projects to the cortical, limbic, midbrain and hindbrain regions, and influences motor activity, mood, sleep, internal temperature, and cognition (Whitaker-Azmitia, 1999; Berger, 2009). The synthetic pathway of serotonin begins with the amino acid tryptophan (Shaw, 1967; Frazer, 1999; Berger, 2009). Tryptophan is an essential amino acid, meaning serotonin levels can be regulated by intake of tryptophan- containing foods. Tryptophan is then converted to 5-hydroxytryptophan in the presence of tryptophan hydroxylase, where 5hydroxytryptophan is converted to serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine) in the presence of aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (Whitaker-Azmitia, 1999; Berger, 2009). Intracellular serotonin levels are regulated by monoamine oxidase, which

metabolizes serotonin and converts it to 5-hydroxyindole acetic acid (5-HIAA). The serotonin transporter (SERT) removes serotonin from the synaptic cleft to inactivate serotonin activity after release.

Ontogeny of Serotonin Systems

There are age-related changes in the expression of serotonergic neuronal components that begin at birth and continue through adulthood. For example, the density of synapses in the basal forebrain that are overexpressed from birth to postnatal day (PD) 14. Then, from PD 14 to PD 21 the synapses in the basal forebrain undergo pruning (Spear, 2000), in which dendritic refinement takes place, and synaptic density decreases below adult levels (Brenhouse, 2011). PD 60, which is analogous to early adulthood in the rat, is marked by decreased 5-HT_{1A/B} receptor density in the neocortex, hippocampus, and striatum when compared to 5-HT_{1A/B} receptor densities of preweanling rats (Davidoff & Lolova, 1991).

Serotonin Receptors

Serotonin receptors have been extensively studied through human postmortem tissue samples and imaging, as well as through animal studies using monkey and rodent models (Shaw, 1967; Frazer, 1999; Garcia-Garcia, 2014, Hillhouse, 2015). The serotonin family of receptors consists of fourteen receptor subtypes, which have been divided into seven families. According to a

radioligand study conducted by Frazer et al. (1999), thirteen of the serotonin subtypes are metabotropic, meaning they are G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) and one receptor (5-HT₃) is ionotropic (Raymond et al., 1999; Yudin & Rohacs, 2018). These families consist of the 5-HT₁ family (5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{1B}, 5-HT_{1D}, 5-HT_{1E}, & 5-HT_{1F}), 5-HT2 family (5-HT_{2A}, 5-HT_{2B}, & 5-HT_{2C}), 5-HT₃ family (the only 5-HT receptor that is a ligand gated ion channel), 5-HT₄ family, 5-HT₅ family (5-HT_{5A}, 5-HT_{5B}), the 5-HT₆ family, and the 5-HT₇ family (Frazer et al., 1999). When stimulated, the 5-HT₁ and 5-HT₅ families inhibit adenylyl cyclase activity, the 5-HT₂ family stimulates phospholipase C, and the 5-HT₄, 5-HT₆, and 5-HT₇ receptors stimulate adenylyl cyclase activity (see Table 1) (Frazer et al., 1999).

Table 1.

Serotonin Receptor Subtypes

Receptors	G-Protein Subunit	Signaling Mechanism
5-HT1A	Gα i/o	Inhibition of adenylyl cyclase
5-HT1B	Gα i/o	Inhibition of adenylyl cyclase
5-HT1D	Gα i/o	Inhibition of adenylyl cyclase
5-HT1E	Gα _{i/o}	Inhibition of adenylyl cyclase
5-HT1F	Gα i/o	Inhibition of adenylyl cyclase
5-HT2A	Gαq/11	Stimulation of phospholipase C
5-HT2B	Gαq/ ₁₁	Stimulation of phospholipase C
5-HT2C	Gαq/11	Stimulation of phospholipase C
5-HT3	N/A	Ligand gated ion channel
5-HT4	Ga s	Stimulation of adenylyl cyclase
5-HT5A	Gα i/o	Inhibition of adenylyl cyclase
5-HT5B		Unknown
5-HT6	Ga s	Stimulation of adenylyl cyclase
5-HT7	Ga s	Stimulation of adenylyl cyclase

Although the behavioral role of each 5-HT receptor subtype remains largely unknown, there are some known functions. For example, the 5-HT_{2c} receptor, which is distributed throughout the cortex, limbic system, and basal ganglia, has a role in locomotion and reward processing (Berger et al., 2009). The 5-HT₄ receptors, which are densely located in the nigrostriatal and mesolimbic areas, play a role in spatial memory and cognition. Whereas, the 5-HT₇ receptor subtype, which is densely located in the thalamus, hypothalamus, and hippocampus, is associated with circadian rhythms and sleep (Barnes & Sharpe, 1999; Terry, Buccafusco, & Wilson, 2008).

The serotonin subtypes that are most intensively studied are those in the 5-HT₁ receptor family, because of their relevance to therapeutic drugs (Harrison, 1999; Nautiyal, 2017). Specifically, 5-HT_{1A} receptors, which are somatodendritic autoreceptors that modulate 5-HT neurotransmission, can be found in the raphe nucleus in the brain stem, and project to cortical, limbic, midbrain and hindbrain regions. Additionally, 5-HT_{1A} receptors are found in high densities in limbic areas, such as the hippocampus, lateral septum, cingulate and entorhinal cortex. The dorsal and median raphe nuclei are the targets for drug therapies in disorders such as anxiety and depression (Liu et al., 2005; Nautiyal et al., 2017). 5-HT_{1B} receptors are autoreceptors and heteroreceptors that are located on the axon terminals of serotonergic, as well as non-serotonergic, neurons (Maroteaux, 1992; Nautiyal et al., 2017). 5-HT_{1B} receptors are densely located in the basal ganglia modulate locomotion, aggression, and reward mechanisms (Przegalinski,

2001; Roth, 2004, Garcia- Garcia et al., 2014; Tiger, 2018). 5-HT_{1 A/B} receptors are important for the modulation of neurotransmitter systems other than serotonin, such as dopamine and acetylcholine (Sarhan et al., 1999; Fink & Göthert, 2007; Hagan et al., 2012).

CHAPTER THREE:

BEHAVIORAL SENSITIZATION AND TOLERANCE

Effects of Repeated Drug Administration

Repeated exposure to a drug can lead to a greater (behavioral sensitization) or a decreased response (tolerance) or both. Behavioral sensitization is a phenomenon that occurs when repeated drug treatment (often psychostimulant drugs, such as cocaine, amphetamine, etc.) results in an enhanced response to the drug with each subsequent administration (Miller et al., 1998; McDougall et al., 2007, 2011; Herbert et al., 2010). In rodent studies, behavioral sensitization is often characterized by increases in locomotion, and enhanced stereotyped behaviors (i.e., grooming) that are seen after a single or multiple drug pretreatment day(s). Behavioral tolerance is a phenomenon in which repeated administration of a drug (i.e., alcohol and opioids) results in a reduction of the drug's effect. Drug tolerance is characterized by a reduction in response to the drug with each subsequent administration of the same dose during the pretreatment phase, such that the initial effects of a drug on the first pretreatment day may decrease by as much as 80% by the fourth pretreatment day (Oberlander et al., 1987; McDougall et al., 2020 a, b). These reductions in response can be restored with a higher dose of the drug (Krasnegor, 1978; Oberlander et al., 1978; McDougall et al., 2020 a, b).

Behavioral Sensitization

Behavioral sensitization occurs when repeated administration of a drug leads to an increase in the behavioral response (Przegalinski et al., 2001; Pentkowski et al., 2009; Sari et al., 2013). Sensitization is typically observed using psychostimulants, such as cocaine, methamphetamine, and MDMA, and can be assessed by monitoring changes in behavior after one or multiple exposures of the drug. For example, repeated treatment with cocaine leads to a significant increase in locomotor activity each time the drug is administered (Anagnostaras & Robinson, 1996; Przegalinski, 2001; Pentkowski, 2009). Although different behavior can be used to assess behavioral sensitization, locomotor activity is commonly used in rodent studies (Anagnostaras et al., 1996; Anagnostaras & Robinson, 1997; Przegalinski et al., 2001; Pentkowski et al., 2009).

Behavioral Tolerance

Tolerance occurs when repeated administration of a stimulus (i.e., drug) has a progressively diminished effect over time (Bespalov et al., 2016). Behavioral tolerance is typically observed with alcohol and opioids, such as morphine, and can be assessed by monitoring changes in behavior after one or multiple exposures of the drug. Tolerance takes multiple forms: acute tolerance, which develops within a single exposure, rapid tolerance, which develops twentyfour hours after the initial administration, and chronic tolerance, which develops

after repeated exposure of the drug over the course of many days or weeks (Silveri & Spear, 1999).

Adult Sensitization and Tolerance

Single- trial versus Multi-trial Sensitization and Tolerance

Behavioral sensitization and tolerance can occur after a single exposure or multiple exposures to a drug. To assess behavioral sensitization in a singletrial procedure, the subject is typically pre-exposed to a high dose of the drug (Herbert et al., 2010; McDougall et al., 2011), followed by a period of abstinence (i.e., one or more days free from drug exposure and testing). Lastly, the subjects are given a challenge injection with a low dose of the same drug, and changes in behavioral response are examined. To assess single-trial behavioral tolerance, the same procedure is followed, however, the subjects are pretreated with a moderate drug dose and challenged with a higher drug dose (McDougall et al., 2020b). A sensitized response is evident when the subject has increased locomotion or other behavioral responses, while tolerance is characterized by diminished response compared to a drug naïve subject or the response after the initial drug treatment. During a multi-trial procedure, the subject undergoes multiple pre-treatment days with moderate drug dose, followed by a period of abstinence (McDougall et al., 2007; Herbert et al., 2010). Lastly, the subject's behavioral response to a low dose (to assess sensitization) or a high dose (to assess tolerance) of the challenge drug is examined.

For both sensitization and tolerance, a wealth of literature has shown that dose, number of trials, and context are factors that can greatly influence the size of the effect and how long it will persist (Anagnostaras & Robinson, 1996; Przegalinski et al., 2001; Pentowski et al., 2009; Sari et al., 2013). Contextual factors work through associative learning, which occurs when two previously non-related stimuli (i.e., novel environment [CS], and a drug treatment [US]) elicit a conditioned response when they are paired together (McDougall et al., 2007, 2011; Herbert et al., 2010). For example, it is only evident in adult rats and mice, when the drug treatment (i.e., cocaine, MDMA, amphetamine) is paired with a novel environmental context single-trial behavioral sensitization (Anagnostaras, & Robinson, 1996, 1997, 2002; McDougall et al., 2007, 2011; Herbert et al., 2010). This phenomenon will not occur if the drug pretreatment and challenge drug are not administered in the same environment. In contrast, adult rats undergoing multiple-trial sensitization, will show a context-independent sensitized response (i.e., animals are trained and tested in different environments); however, even in multi-trial sensitization the response is often stronger if the pretreatment and test environments are the same (Herbert et al., 2010). In adult rats, the sensitized response can persist for months after receiving the last drug pretreatment.

Pavlovian conditioning not only produces behavioral sensitization, but it also produces associative tolerance by pairing drugs such as morphine and alcohol to a novel environment (Siegel, 1991; Bespalov et al., 2016, McDougall et al., 2020). Siegel (1991) and Azorlosa et al. (1994) found that humans and

animals show a greater tolerance to morphine when it is repeatedly administered in the same context as compared to a novel environment.

Preweanling Sensitization and Tolerance

Adult and preweanling rats differ in how many trials are needed to produce behavioral sensitization, the importance of environmental context, as well as how long the sensitized response will last after the final drug exposure. In single trial sensitization, adult rats only show a sensitized response if they are trained and tested in the same context (Anagnostaras & Robinson, 1996, 1997, 2002; McDougall et al., 2007, 2011; Herbert et al., 2010). Conversely, in the single trial procedure context is irrelevant for preweanling rats to show sensitization (McDougall et al., 2007, 2011; Herbert et al., 2010). Thus, preweanling rats will emit a sensitized response if the context where they receive the pretreatment drug is the same or different from the context in which they are tested (McDougall et al., 2007, 2011; Herbert et al., 2010). The persistence of the sensitized response induced after a single pretreatment is also not the same in adult and preweanling rats, because the sensitized response of adult rats persists for months, while the sensitized response of pups last no longer than two weeks (McDougall et al., 2007, 2011; Herbert et al., 2010; Mohd-Yusof et al., 2016). There are also developmental differences in the onset and duration of single-trial (acute) tolerance (Silveri & Spear 1998; McDougall et al., 2020). For example, Silveri and Spear (1998) examined sensitivity to the effects of ethanol

(3.5, 4.0, 4.5, or 5.0 g/kg) in rats aged PD16, PD26, PD36, PD46, PD56, or PD96. They found that single-trial tolerance was most apparent at PD16 and gradually declined until PD36, suggesting that there is a mechanism responsible for reduced sensitivity to ethanol in younger rats.

Behavioral Sensitization and Tolerance Using 5-HT_{1A/B} Agonists

The effects produced by repeated administration of the 5-HT_{1 A/B} agonist RU 24969 results in decreased core body temperature, motoric impairment, and results in a profound decline in locomotor activity with each subsequent administration indicating that it produces tolerance (Oberlander et al., 1987; Harrison et al., 1997; McDougall et al., 2020). The acute and chronic effects of RU 24969 (2.5 or 5 mg/kg) on locomotor activity, core body temperature, and motoric capacity were examined for one or four days (McDougall et al., 2020). Evidence showed that an acute administration of RU 24969 resulted in an increase in locomotor activity and motoric problems, while decreasing core body temperatures. Rats receiving repeated injections of RU 24969 (2.5 or 5 mg/kg) had decreased locomotor activity, less motor issues, and an increase in core body temperature relative to acutely treated control groups. Therefore, these results suggest that RU 24969 produces tolerance after multiple treatments (McDougall et al., 2020). The tolerance produced by RU 24969 also occurs with intracranial self-stimulation (ICSS) because RU 24969 administration leads to an

increase in ICSS threshold after the second administration (Harrison et al., 1997).

Studies administering the 5-HT_{1A} direct agonist 8-hydroxy-2- (di-n propylamino) tetralin (8-OH-DPAT) report decreases in core body temperature and motoric impairment (i.e., balance problems, dragging, rolling over) after initial drug administration (Goodwin et al., 1987; Hillegaart et al., 1989). It is unclear whether repeated administration of 8-OH-DPAT results in sensitization or tolerance. Some studies have reported that 8-OH-DPAT increases locomotor activity (Tricklebank et al., 1984; Evenden 1992; Evenden, Ryan & Palejko, 1995; De La Garza & Cunningham, 2000), while other studies have shown that it decreases activity (Carli et al., 1989; Hillegaart et al., 1989; Johnson & Ahlenius, 1989; Evenden & Angeby-Moller, 1990). For instance, adult rats were given repeated treatments of 8-OH-DPAT (0.01 or 0.2 mg/kg) for seven consecutive days and locomotor activity was measured (De La Garza & Cunningham, 2000). They found that repeated administration of 8-OH-DPAT led to an increase in locomotor activity across all days, suggesting that it results in behavioral sensitization. Conversely, other studies have found that repeated administration of 8-OH-DPAT decreases locomotor activity. For instance, in a study investigating the effects of alcohol (0.3 or 1.0 g/kg) and selective serotonergic drugs (including 8-OH-DPAT) on response choice; they found that acute administration of 8-OH-DPAT caused hypothermia and motoric impairment with

its initial administration, and each subsequent administration of 8-OH-DPAT (0.3 mg/kg) produced a rapid tolerance to these effects (Evenden & Ryan, 1999).

Studies administering the 5-HT_{1B} direct agonist 5-propoxy-3-(1,2,3,6tetrahydro-4-pyridinyl)-1Hpyrrolo[3,2-b] pyridine (CP 94253) found conflicting evidence regarding its effect on locomotor activity (Dalton et al., 2003). In adults, CP 94253 administered alone does not appear to affect locomotor activity, although it seems to promote the sensitization of other drugs (Przegalinski et al., 2001; Pentkowski et al., 2009; Der-Ghazarian et al., 2017). For example, the effects of locomotor sensitization were examined in rats that were administered saline or cocaine (10 mg/kg) for five consecutive days, and then challenged with CP 94253 or cocaine, or co-administration of CP 94253 + cocaine (Pentkowski et al., 2009). Results from this study revealed that the behavioral response of subjects pretreated with cocaine and challenged with cocaine + CP 94253 displayed dose-dependent increases in locomotor activity compared to rats that were challenged with cocaine alone, implying that it increases behavioral sensitization of psychostimulant drugs. Results from the same study revealed that rats pretreated and challenged with CP 94253 (3.0, 5.6 or 10 mg/kg) did not affect locomotor activity at any dose. Although CP 94253 treatment does not appear to affect locomotor activity in adults, there is evidence showing that it increases activity in mouse pups, because CP 94253 (0.03- 30.0 mg/kg) produced a dose-dependent increase in grid crossings in seven-day-old mice (Fish et al., 2000).

Combined administration of the 5-HT_{1A} direct agonist 8-OH-DPAT (0.05 or 1.0 mg/kg) and the 5-HT_{1B} direct agonist CP 94253 (1.75 or 2.5 mg/kg) is effective in reducing impaired voluntary movement in animal models of Parkinson's disease (Munoz et al., 2008). Specifically, neither agonist significantly suppressed abnormal movements alone, but their combined effect resulted in an 80% decrease in L-dopa-induced dyskinesia in MPTP-treated rats. Additionally, neither 8-OH-DPAT (0.5 mg/kg) nor CP 94253 (20 mg/kg) increased locomotor activity alone, but combined treatment with the two drugs resulted in a significant increase in locomotor activity. These findings imply the combined stimulation of 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} receptors is necessary for the initial increase in locomotor activity observed with RU 24969, but it is unknown whether this stimulation is necessary for the later development of tolerance.

CHAPTER FOUR: SUMMARY THESIS STATEMENT

RU 24969 is a preclinical serotonergic drug that binds to the serotonin 5-HT 1A and 5-HT1B receptors. Administration of RU 24969 produces hyperactivity in rodents, but subsequent administration leads to a profound tolerance characterized by a large reduction in activity (Oberlander et al., 1987; McDougall et al., 2020). The effects of this compound are important because it has purported antidepressant qualities in animal models (Tiger et al., 2018) and may lead to a new class of medications. Unfortunately, most of what is known about RU 24969 is from research using adult animals and the effect may differ in younger age groups. Furthermore, in a meta-analysis examining current psychological and pharmacological interventions in children with depressive disorders, it was found that only fluoxetine alone or fluoxetine in combination with cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) was effective in decreasing depressive symptoms in children as compared to fifteen other pharmacological interventions (Zhou et al., 2020).

The tolerance resulting from repeated administration of RU 24969 is interesting because stimulation of the 5-HT_{1A} receptors alone initially results in a hypothermic response and motoric dysfunction (i.e., balance problems, dragging, rolling over), while subsequent injections result in tolerance to these effects (Evenden, 1992; Evenden et al., 1995). While there is evidence reporting that

8-OH-DPAT could potentially increase or decrease locomotor activity, there is conflicting evidence that has shown that repeated treatments of 8-OH-DPAT results in behavioral sensitization (De La Garza & Cunningham, 2000). Additionally, stimulation of the 5-HT_{1B} receptors alone appears to have no effect in adults, although it promotes sensitization to other drugs (Przegalinski et al., 2001; Der-Ghazarian et al., 2017). In contrast, stimulation of 5-HT_{1B} receptors increases locomotor activity in pups, which is consistent with the effects of RU 24969 (O'Neill et al., 1997; Fish et al., 2000). Thus, the aim of the present study is to investigate if the tolerance effect seen after RU 24969 treatment is unique to this preclinical drug or if stimulation of the 5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{1B}, or both receptors would also induce behavioral tolerance.

In our first set of experiments, we will administer the 5-HT_{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT (0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.8, 1, 2, 4, or 8 mg/kg), and measure distance traveled, axillary body temperature, and motor impairment using a scale adopted by McDougall and colleagues (2017). Our second experiment will be identical to the first, except we will use 5-HT_{1B} agonist CP 94253 (2.5, 5, 10, or 20 mg/kg). Our third set of experiments will use the same procedures except that 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg) and CP 94253 (5 mg/kg) will be co-administered. By assessing the effects of repeated administration of each agonist alone and in combination, we will examine whether the stimulation of a single receptor, or the simultaneous stimulation of both receptors, are important for behavioral sensitization and tolerance.

Although the underlying neuronal mechanisms of repeated stimulation of the 5-HT_{1A/B} receptors and its relation to tolerance are not well understood, the following six hypotheses have been formulated:

Experiments involving the 5-HT_{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT

8-OH-DPAT will result in a dose-dependent increase in locomotor activity, motoric impairment, and a decrease in core body temperature upon initial administration. Past studies have shown that a single administration of 8-OH-DPAT results in motoric impairment, hypothermia, and an increase in locomotor activity (Tricklebank et al., 1984; Evenden & Angeby-Moller, 1990; Chojnacka-Wojcik, 1992; Evenden 1992; Evenden, Ryan & Palejko, 1995; De La Garza and Cunningham, 2000; Dalton et al., 2003). Based on these findings, I hypothesize that larger doses of 8-OH-DPAT will result in stronger behavioral sensitization.

Multiple injections of 8-OH-DPAT will decrease motor impairment and core body temperature, producing a tolerance effect at all doses compared to saline treated animals. Although there is conflicting evidence showing that repeated treatment of 8-OH-DPAT could result in either behavioral sensitization or tolerance (Evenden, 1992; Evenden et al., 1995), the wealth of evidence has shown that 8-OH-DPAT leads to locomotor sensitization. Based on past literature, I hypothesize that 8-OH-DPAT will decrease core body temperature and motor impairment, resulting in tolerance, whereas, locomotor activity will
show a progressively elevated response after repeated injections, resulting in sensitization.

Experiments involving the 5-HT_{1B} agonist CP 94253

A single administration of CP 94253 will result in behavioral sensitization, as shown by an enhanced behavioral response and a dose-dependent increase in locomotor activity. Acute administration of CP 94253 will have no effect on core body temperature or motor impairment. Based on past literature, drugs that stimulate the 5-HT_{1B} receptor alone increase locomotor activity in mice pups, with no evidence of motor impairment or core body temperature (Fish et al., 2000; Der-Ghazarian et al., 2017).

Multiple injections of CP 94253 will increase locomotor activity at all doses, with no effect on core body temperature or motoric impairment. Past literature demonstrates drugs stimulating the 5-HT_{1B} receptor initially increase locomotor activity, though this effect does not last past a two-week abstinence period (Der-Ghazarian et al., 2017). To that end, I hypothesize that repeated treatments of CP 94253 will result in behavioral sensitization rather than tolerance.

Experiments concerning the combined treatment of 5-HT 1A and 5-HT1B agonists (8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253)

The co-administration of 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 will result in an increase in locomotor activity, motoric impairment, and a decrease in core body temperature upon initial administration. Based on past literature, experiments found hypothermic responses with its first injection showing that there is an underlying mechanism responsible for inducing a decrease in core body temperature (Dalton et al, 2004; Munoz et al., 2008). Based on these findings, I hypothesize that a single injection of 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 co-administered will result in elevated locomotor activity, hypothermia, and motoric impairment.

Multiple injections of 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 given in combination will decrease motor impairment, increase core body temperature, and induce tolerance at all doses. Munoz et al., (2008) found that the co-administration of the 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} receptor agonists suppressed abnormal involuntary movements in L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia in the MPTP-treated subjects by 80% after the fourth administration. In addition, repeated administration of RU 24969 induces an enhanced behavioral effect upon initial administration, but then causes tolerance to the locomotor activity inducing effect that can be observed after the second administration (Oberlander et al., 1987; Harrison et al, 1997; McDougall et al., 2020). Because of the consistent findings, I hypothesize that the combined administration of 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 will cause tolerance

across all three measures: core body temperature, motoric impairment, and locomotor activity.

Because of the age of our subjects, we do not believe sex will affect the sensitization or tolerance induced by our test drugs. However, sufficient numbers of male and female rats will be used so that sex effects can be detected if they exist.

CHAPTER FIVE: METHODS

Subjects

Subjects were 256 male (n = 128) and female (n = 128) preweanling (n = 8 subjects per group) Sprague-Dawley (Charles River; Hollister, CA) rats that were bred and raised in the vivarium of the Psychology Department at California State University, San Bernardino (CSUSB). Litters were culled to 10 pups on postnatal day (PD) 3 and weaned on PD 23. All litters received food and water ad libitum and kept on a 12h light and 12h dark schedule in a colony room that was maintained at 22-23 °C. Behavioral testing was conducted in a separate experimental room during the light cycle, with subjects being returned to their home cage after testing. All subjects were cared for according to the "Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals" (National Research Council 2010) under a research protocol approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of CSUSB.

Apparatus

All behavioral testing was performed in activity monitoring chambers ($26 \times 26 \times 41$ cm) from Coulbourn Instruments (Whitehall, PA). Each chamber includes four acrylic walls, a grey plastic floor, and open top. To measure distance traveled (cm), each chamber included an X–Y photobeam array, with 16

photocells and detectors. Axillary temperatures were measured using a BAT-12

microprobe thermometer (Physitemp Instruments, Piscataway, NJ).

Drugs

8-OH-DPAT [(R)-(+)-8-hydroxy-DPAT] and CP 94253 (Tocris,

Minneapolis, MN) were dissolved in saline and injected intraperitoneally (IP) at a volume of 2.5 ml/kg.

Procedure

Experiment 1a. Effects of repeated low dose (0.1–0.8 mg/kg) treatment with the 5-HT_{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure

Prior to the start of testing, all subjects were randomly assigned to treatment groups. On PD 20, rats were injected with saline (n = 32) or 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, or 0.8 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT (n = 8 per drug group) and immediately placed in activity chambers where distance traveled, and motoric capacity were measured for 45 min. On test day (PD 22), rats previously treated with saline received 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, or 0.8 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT (n = 8 per group). Subjects initially treated with 8-OH-DPAT were injected with the same dose of 8-OH-DPAT again (n = 8 per group). Axillary temperatures were recorded immediately after completion of behavioral testing on PD 20 and PD 22.

To assess motoric capacity, the behavior of rats in the activity chambers was coded using a motoric capacity rating scale (adopted from McDougall et al., 2019, 2021b) in which: 0 = asleep or inactive, 1 = normal forward locomotion (no balance disturbances), 2 = forward locomotion with minor balance problems (upright walking, but slightly splayed rear legs), 3 = forward locomotion with moderate balance problems (not dragging, but awkward leg movements), 4 = forward locomotion with major balance problems I (not dragging, but occasional rolling over), 5 = forward locomotion with major balance problems II (minor dragging and rolling over, but focused forward movement), 6 = predominate dragging (prominent dragging and rolling over, with random forward movement), 7 = circular dragging (forward dragging in a circular pattern), and 8 = splayed or "swimming" movements (see Table 2 below).

Table 2.

Motoric Capacity Scale

Rating	Behavior
0	Asleep or inactive
1	Normal forward locomotion (no balance disturbances)
2	Forward locomotion with minor balance problems (upright walking, slightly splayed rear legs)
3	Forward locomotion with moderate balance problems (not dragging, awkward leg movements)
4	Forward locomotion with major balance problems (not dragging, but rolling over)
5	Forward locomotion with major balance problems (forward focused movement, minor dragging and rolling over
6	Predominate dragging (major dragging and rolling over, with random forward movement)
7	Circular dragging (forward dragging in a circular pattern)
8	Spayed or "swimming" movements

Note: This scale was adopted from McDougall et al. (2019, 2021b). The behavior of each subject was monitored for 15 s every five-min interval by an observer blind to treatment conditions.

Experiment 1b. Effects of repeated high dose (1–8 mg/kg) treatment with the 5-HT_{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure

The procedure was identical to Experiment 1a, except higher doses of 8-

OH-DPAT (1, 2, 4, or 8 mg/kg) were administered on PD 20 and PD 22.

Experiment 2. Effects of repeated treatment with the <u>5-HT_{1B} agonist CP 94253 on the locomotor activity, motoric</u> <u>capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female</u> <u>preweanling rats: Two-day procedure</u>

The procedure was identical to Experiment 1, with the exception that CP

94253 (2.5, 5, 10, or 20 mg/kg) was administered instead of 8-OH-DPAT.

Experiment 3. Effects of combined treatment with 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure

On PD 20, rats were injected with saline or a cocktail of 4 mg/kg 8-OH-

DPAT plus 5 mg/kg CP 94253 before being placed in activity chambers. Distance

traveled and motoric capacity were measured in 5-min time blocks for 45 min. On

PD 22, both groups of rats received a co-administration of 8-OH-DPAT plus CP

94253 and behavior and axillary temperatures were recorded. For comparison

purposes, a separate control group was given an injection of saline on both PD

20 and PD 22.

Experiment 4. Effects of 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253, administered alone or together, on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats: Five-day procedure

On PD 17–20, rats were injected with saline (n = 24) or 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT, 5 mg/kg CP 94253, or DPAT+CP (n = 8 per drug group) and immediately placed in activity chambers. On PD 22, rats previously administered saline were injected with 8-OH-DPAT, CP 94253, or DPAT+CP (n = 8 per group), whereas rats initially given one of the drug treatments were given the same drug treatment again (n = 8 per group). This behavioral analysis is identical to Experiment 1.

Statistical Analysis

Distance traveled and axillary body temperatures from each experiment were analyzed by separate (pretreatment × test day treatment) between group univariate analysis of variance (ANOVA). Experiments involving multiple pretreatment days were analyzed using repeated measures ANOVA to analyze day-dependent changes on PD 17-20. The pretreatment analyses for all experiments will include Group x Dose for saline vs. all drug treatment groups (*n* = 4), whereas the test day treatment analyses will include all sal-drug vs all drugdrug Group effects (*n* = 8). In the event that Mauchly's test of sphericity is violated, we will use the Huynd-Feldt correction (denoted by the superscript ^a) if the epsilon (ε)>.75 (Huynd & Feldt, 1976). Additionally, we will round the degrees of freedom to the nearest whole integer. Post hoc analyses will be made with Tukey tests. Because the motoric capacity rating scale provides nonparametric

data, we will analyze these measures using either Mann-Whitney *U* tests, Kruskal-Wallis *H* tests, and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests. Post hoc analyses of Kruskal-Wallis *H* tests will be made with Dunn's tests. The level of significance will be set at 0.05 for all statistical tests.

CHAPTER SIX:

RESULTS

Experiment 1A

Experiment 1a examined the effects of repeated low dose (0.1–0.8 mg/kg) treatment with 8-OH-DPAT on locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats. It was predicted that administration of 8-OH-DPAT in this dose range would result in a dose-dependent increase in locomotor activity, motoric impairment, and a decrease in core body temperature.

Locomotor Activity

Administration of 8-OH-DPAT on PD 20, resulted in a main effect of dose observed with locomotor activity scores [Pretreatment main effect, F(4, 59) = 29.51, p<0.001] (Figure 1, upper graph). Specifically, rats treated with 0.4 and 0.8 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT (but not 0.1 and 0.2 mg/kg) exhibited greater locomotor activity scores compared to saline-treated rats [Tukey test, p < 0.05]. Moreover, the higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (0.4 and 0.8 mg/kg) differed from both lower doses (0.1 and 0.2 mg/kg) but did not differ from each other [Tukey tests, p<0.05].

On PD 22, the test day dose altered locomotor activity and this effect was not affected by treatment on the pretreatment day (e.g., saline vs drug treatment [Group main effect, F(7, 56) = 15.524, p < 0.001]) (Figure 1, lower graph). Rats treated with saline and challenged with the higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (0.4 and

0.8 mg/kg) (Sal- DPAT group) had greater distance traveled scores on PD 22 than on PD 20. Additionally, rats receiving their second treatment of 8-OH-DPAT (0.4 and 0.8 mg/kg) (DPAT- DPAT group), did not significantly differ in locomotor activity than the rats that only received one treatment (Sal- DPAT group). Animals that received lower doses of 8-OH-DPAT (0.1 and 0.2 mg/kg) (Sal-DPAT group) did not significantly differ in locomotor activity on the test day [Tukey tests, p<0.05]. The non- significant pretreatment effect indicates that doses of 8-OH-DPAT from 0.1 to 0.8 mg/kg did not induce tolerance or sensitization after a single pre-exposure in our study.



Figure 1. Mean (\pm) distance traveled on the pretreatment day (upper graph) and test day (lower graph) of male and female preweanling rats. Rats were injected with saline or 8-OH-DPAT (0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.8 mg/kg, ip) on the pretreatment day (PD 20). On the test day (PD 22), 8-OH-DPAT pretreated rats were injected with the same dose again while saline pretreated rats were injected with one of the four 8-OH-DPAT doses.

* Significant difference between Saline and DPAT groups on PD 20.

Axillary Temperature

Pretreatment with 8-OH-DPAT (PD 20) resulted in an effect of dose on axillary temperatures, [Pretreatment main effect, F(4, 59) = 21.10, p<.001] (Figure 2, upper graph). Specifically, animals pretreated with higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (0.4 and 0.8 mg/kg) had significantly decreased axillary temperatures, while animals treated with saline or lower doses of 8-OH-DPAT (0.1 and 0.2 mg/kg) did not [Tukey test, p<.05]. Moreover, the higher dose of 8-OH-DPAT (0.8 mg/kg) differed from all lower doses (0.1, 0.2, and 0.4 mg/kg) [Tukey tests, p<0.05].

On test day (PD 22), there was an effect of dose observed on axillary temperatures [Group main effect, F(7, 56) = 5.319, p < .001] (Figure 2, lower graph). Animals previously administered saline on PD 20 and challenged with 8-OH-DPAT (0.4 and 0.8 mg/kg) on PD 22 (Sal- DPAT groups), had a significant decrease in axillary temperatures on PD 22 compared to PD 20. Conversely, animals receiving a second treatment (DPAT- DPAT groups) with the higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (0.4 and 0.8 mg/kg) resulted in an increase in axillary temperatures compared to the pretreatment day [Tukey tests, p<0.05]. Higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (0.4 and 0.8 mg/kg) induced tolerance after a single pre-exposure in our study, while lower doses (0.1 and 0.2 mg/kg) did not.



Figure 2. Mean (±) axillary temperatures on the pretreatment day (upper graph) and test day (lower graph) of male and female preweanling rats. Rats were injected with saline or 8-OH-DPAT (0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 0.8 mg/kg, ip) on the pretreatment day (PD 20). On the test day (PD 22), 8-OH-DPAT pretreated rats were injected with the same dose again while saline pretreated rats were injected with one of the four 8-OH-DPAT doses.

* Significant difference between Saline and DPAT groups on PD 20.

**Significant difference in axillary temperatures between SAL-DPAT and DPAT-DPAT groups on PD 22

Motoric Capacity

Low doses of 8-OH-DPAT (0.1 to 0.8 mg/kg) had no effect on motoric capacity on either the pretreatment day (PD 20) or the test day (PD 22) (data not shown).

Experiment 1B

Experiment 1b examined the effects of repeated high dose (1–8 mg/kg) treatment with 8-OH-DPAT on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats. It was predicted that 8-OH-DPAT would result in a dose-dependent increase in locomotor activity, motoric impairment, and a decrease in core body temperature.

Locomotor Activity

Pretreatment with 8-OH-DPAT (PD 20) resulted in an effect of dose observed with locomotor activity scores [Pretreatment main effect, F(4, 59) =18.11, p < .001] (Figure 3, upper graph). Specifically, animals treated with higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (1-8 mg/kg) exhibited greater locomotor activity scores compared to saline treated animals [Tukey test, p < 0.05]. Moreover, all the higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (1-8 mg/kg) differed from saline, but did not differ from each other [Tukey tests, p < 0.05].

Distance traveled scores on PD 22 revealed that the main effect of Group was not significant [Group main effect, F(7, 56) = 1.419, p > .05, ns] (Figure 3, lower graph). The non- significant Group effect indicates that higher doses of 8-

OH-DPAT from 1 to 8 mg/kg did not induce tolerance or sensitization after a single pre-exposure in our study.



Figure 3. Mean (±) distance traveled on the pretreatment day (upper graph) and test day (lower graph) of male and female preweanling rats. Rats were injected with saline or 8-OH-DPAT (1, 2, 4, 8 mg/kg, ip) on the pretreatment day (PD 20). On the test day (PD 22), 8-OH-DPAT pretreated rats were injected with the same dose again while saline pretreated rats were injected with one of the four 8-OH-DPAT doses.

* Significant difference between Saline and DPAT groups on PD 22.

Axillary Temperature

Pretreatment with 8-OH-DPAT (PD 20) resulted in a significant main effect of dose observed on axillary temperatures, [Pretreatment main effect, F(4, 59) =56.80, *p*<.001] (Figure 4, upper graph). Animals treated with higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (1-8 mg/kg) on PD 20 exhibited a decrease in axillary temperatures at all doses compared to saline-treated animals. [Tukey test, *p* < 0.05]. Moreover, the higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (4 and 8 mg/kg) differed from both lower doses (1 and 2 mg/kg) but did not differ from each other [Tukey tests, *p*<0.05].

On test day (PD 22), there was a significant main effect of Group observed on axillary temperatures [Group main effect, F(7, 56) = 4.949, p<.001] (Figure 4, lower graph). Animals previously administered saline on PD 20 and challenged with 8-OH-DPAT (1-8 mg/kg) on PD 22 (Sal-DPAT groups), had a dose-dependent decrease in axillary temperatures compared to animals that received two injections of 8-OH-DPAT (DPAT- DPAT groups) [Tukey tests, p<0.05]. Moreover, rats treated with 4 or 8 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT (DPAT- DPAT groups) had significantly greater axillary temperatures on PD 22 than on PD 20 while rats that received 1 or 2 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT did not. Higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (4 and 8 mg/kg) induced tolerance after a single pre-exposure in our study, while lower doses (1 and 2 mg/kg) did not.



Figure 4. Mean (±) axillary temperatures on the pretreatment day (upper graph) and test day (lower graph) of male and female preweanling rats. Rats were injected with saline or 8-OH-DPAT (1, 2, 4, 8 mg/kg, ip) on the pretreatment day (PD 20). On the test day (PD 22), 8-OH-DPAT pretreated rats were injected with the same dose again while saline pretreated rats were injected with one of the four 8-OH-DPAT doses.

* Significant difference between Saline and DPAT groups on PD 20.

**Significant difference in axillary temperatures between SAL-DPAT and DPAT-DPAT groups on PD 22.

Motoric Capacity

Pretreatment with 8-OH-DPAT on PD 20 resulted in a significant main effect of dose observed on motoric capacity for 15 minutes post-treatment [Kruskal- Wallis H = 15.02 to 10.29, p< .05, Dunn's test, p<.05] (See Table 3). For the first 15 minutes, subjects pretreated with higher doses of 8-OH-DPAT (2-8 mg/kg) exhibited moderate balance problems (not dragging, but awkward leg movements; see motoric capacity scale on Table 2) while animals treated with saline or 1 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT did not [Dunn's test, p<.05].

On PD 22, there was no significant difference in motoric capacity between subjects that received a single or multiple treatments of 8-OH-DPAT (1-8 mg/kg). The non-significant Group effect indicates that doses of 8-OH-DPAT (1 to 8 mg/kg) did not induce tolerance or sensitization after a single pre-exposure in our study.

Experiment 2

Experiment 2 examined the effects of repeated treatment with CP-94253 (2, 5, 10, & 20 mg/kg) on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats. It was predicted that CP-94253 would result in a dose-dependent increase in locomotor activity, have no effect on core body temperatures, or motoric impairment.

Locomotor Activity

On PD 20, there was a significant main effect of dose observed with locomotor activity scores [Pretreatment main effect, F(4, 59) = 6.612, p < .001] (Figure 5, upper graph). Specifically, animals treated with 2.5, 10, or 20 mg/kg CP 94253 exhibited significantly greater locomotor activity scores compared to animals treated with 5 mg/kg or saline [Tukey test, p < 0.05].

Distance traveled scores on PD 22 revealed that the main effect of Group was not significant [Group main effect, F(7, 56) = 1.418, p = .217, ns] (Figure 5, lower graph). The non- significant Group effect indicates that CP 94253 did not induce tolerance or sensitization after a single pre-exposure in our study.



Test Day (PD 22)

Figure 5. Mean (±) distance traveled on the pretreatment day (upper graph) and test day (lower graph) of male and female preweanling rats. Rats were injected with saline or CP 94253 (2.5, 5, 10, or 20 mg/kg, ip) on the pretreatment day (PD 20). On the test day (PD 22), CP 94253 pretreated rats were injected with the same dose again while saline pretreated rats were injected with one of the four CP 94253 doses.

* Significant difference between Saline and CP groups on PD 20.

Axillary Temperature

Pretreatment with CP 94243 (PD 20) resulted in a significant main effect of dose observed on axillary temperatures, [Pretreatment main effect, F(4, 101)= 125.566, p<.001] (Figure 6, upper graph). Animals treated with CP 94253 on PD 20 exhibited a decrease in axillary temperatures at all doses compared to saline treated animals [Tukey test, p < 0.05].

On test day (PD 22), there was a significant main effect of Group observed on axillary temperatures [Group main effect, F(7, 64) = 53.621, p < .001] (Figure 6, lower graph). Animals previously administered saline on PD 20 and challenged with CP 94253 (2.5, 10, and 20 mg/kg) on PD 22 (Sal-CP groups), had lower axillary temperatures compared to animals that received two injections of CP 94253 (CP-CP groups) [Tukey tests, p<0.05]. However, there is no significant difference in axillary temperatures in animals that received two injections of 5 mg/kg CP 94253 or saline [Tukey tests, p<0.05]. Moreover, 2.5, 10, and 20 mg/kg CP 94253 induced tolerance after a single pre-exposure in our study.



Test Day (PD 22)

Figure 6. Mean (±) axillary temperatures on the pretreatment day (upper graph) and test day (lower graph) of male and female preweanling rats. Rats were injected with saline or CP 94253 (2.5, 5, 10, or 20 mg/kg, ip) on the pretreatment day (PD 20). On the test day (PD 22), CP 94253 pretreated rats were injected with the same dose again while saline pretreated rats were injected with one of the four CP 94253 doses.

* Significant difference between Saline and CP groups on PD 20.

**Significant difference in axillary temperatures between SAL-CP and CP- CP groups on PD 22

Motoric Capacity

Pretreatment with CP- 94253 on PD 20 resulted in a significant main effect of dose observed on motoric capacity throughout the 45 min session [Kruskal-Wallis H = 21.73 to 12.89, p< .05, Dunn's test, p<.05] (See Table 4). Specifically, animals treated with 20 mg/kg CP-94253 (CP + CP group) exhibited forward locomotion with major balance problems (forward focused movement, minor dragging and rolling over, predominate dragging (major dragging and rolling over, with random forward movement), circular dragging (forward dragging in a circular pattern), and spayed or "swimming" movements (See Table 4). There was no significant difference in motoric capacity ratings for animals treated with saline or 2.5, 5, or 10 mg/kg CP-94253 [Dunn's test, p<.05].

On PD 22, subjects that received multiple treatments of CP-94253 resulted in a significant main effect of dose observed on motoric capacity [Mann-Whitney *U*-tests, p<.05] (Table 4). Specifically, animals that received a second treatment of 20 mg/kg CP- 94253 (CP + CP group), had a significant decrease in motoric capacity on PD 22 during time blocks 6- 9 compared to PD 20 [Wilcoxon signed-rank tests, p<.05] (See Table 4). In addition, animals receiving their first treatment of 20 mg/kg CP- 94253 (Sal- CP group) exhibited greater motoric impairments than the CP + CP group on time blocks 4, 5, and 7 (See Table 4). Compared to PD 22, subjects that received multiple injections of 20 mg/kg CP-94253 displayed greater motoric incapacity on PD 20, indicating that they developed tolerance to the drug's initial effects after multiple treatments.

Experiment 3

Experiment 3 investigated the effects of combined treatment with 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg) and CP 94253 (5 mg/kg) on the locomotor activity, axillary temperatures, and motoric capacity of male and female preweanling rats. It was hypothesized that a single injection of DPAT+CP co-administered will result in hypothermia, and elevated locomotor activity and motoric impairment.

Locomotor Activity

Pretreatment with DPAT + CP (PD 20) resulted in a significant main effect of dose observed with locomotor activity scores [Pretreatment main effect, F(1, 22) = 88.93, p < .001] (Figure 7, upper graph). Specifically, animals that received the combined treatment of DPAT+CP exhibited greater locomotor activity scores compared to saline treated animals.

On test day (PD 22), there was a significant main effect of dose observed with distance traveled scores [Group main effect, F(1, 22) = 29.56, p < .001] (Figure 7, lower graph). Specifically, animals challenged with DPAT+CP (Sal-DPAT+CP and DPAT+CP group) on PD 22, had a significant increase in distance traveled scores compared to the control group (Sal-Sal group) [Tukey tests, p<0.05]. Interestingly, there was no significant difference in locomotor activity scores between subjects that were given their first injection of DPAT+CP on PD 20 (DPAT+CP- DPAT+CP group) compared to those that only received it on PD 22 (Sal- DPAT+CP group) [Tukey tests, p<0.05]. The non-significant difference between the Sal-DPAT+CP and the DPAT+CP- DPAT+CP groups

indicates that the combination of CP-94253 and 8-OH-DPAT did not induce tolerance or sensitization after a single pre-exposure in our study.



Figure 7. Mean (±) distance traveled on the pretreatment day (upper graph) and test day (lower graph) of male and female preweanling rats. Rats were injected with saline or were co-administered with 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg) and CP 94253 (5 mg/kg, ip) on the pretreatment day (PD 20). On the test day (PD 22), DPAT+CP pretreated rats were injected with the same dose again while saline pretreated rats were injected with DPAT+CP.

* Significant difference between Saline and DPAT+CP groups on PD 20.

Axillary Temperature

Pretreatment with DPAT+CP on PD 20 resulted in a significant main effect of dose observed on axillary temperatures, [Pretreatment main effect, F(1, 21) =889.246, *p*<.001] (Figure 8, upper graph). Specifically, animals pretreated with DPAT+CP exhibited a significant decrease in core body temperatures compared to saline treated animals [Tukey test, *p*<.05].

On test day (PD 22), there was a significant main effect of dose observed with axillary temperatures [Group main effect, F(2, 23) = 107.756, p < .001] (Figure 8, lower graph). Animals previously administered DPAT+CP and challenged with DPAT+CP had a significant decrease in axillary temperatures compared to our control group (Sal-Sal group). Additionally, animals previously treated with saline and treated with DPAT+CP (Sal- DPAT +CP group) had a significant decrease in core body temperatures compared to our control group (Figure 6, lower graph). However, there was no significant difference in axillary temperatures between animals that received one or two injections of DPAT + CP [Tukey tests, p<0.05], indicating that it did not induce sensitization or tolerance after a single pre-exposure in our study.



Figure 8. Mean (±) axillary temperatures on the pretreatment day (upper graph) and test day (lower graph) of male and female preweanling rats. Rats were injected with saline or were co-administered with 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg) and CP 94253 (5 mg/kg, ip) on the pretreatment day (PD 20). On the test day (PD 22), DPAT+CP pretreated rats were injected with the same dose again while saline pretreated rats were injected with DPAT+CP.

* Significant difference between Saline and DPAT+CP groups on PD 20.

Motoric Capacity

Pretreatment with DPAT + CP on PD 20 resulted in a significant increase in motoric capacity throughout the 45-minute session [Mann- Whitney *U* tests, p<.05] (See Table 5). Animals treated with DPAT + CP exhibited focused forward movement with minor dragging and rolling over compared to saline treated animals. On PD 22, subjects that received multiple treatments of DPAT + CP also resulted in a significant increase in motoric capacity throughout the 45minute session [Kruskal- Wallis H = 15.02 to 10.29, p<.05, Dunn's test, p<.05] (See Table 5). Animals receiving a second treatment of DPAT + CP exhibited focused forward movement with awkward leg movements compared to saline treated animals. Compared to PD 22, subjects displayed greater motoric incapacity on PD 20, indicating that they developed tolerance to the drug's initial effects after multiple treatments.

Experiment 4

Experiment 4 investigated the effects of 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253, administered alone or together, on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats with multiple injections. It was hypothesized that multiple injections of 8-OH-DPAT will decrease core body temperature and motor impairment, resulting in tolerance; whereas, locomotor activity will show a progressively elevated response after repeated injections, resulting in sensitization. Additionally, we predicted that

multiple injections of CP 94253 will increase locomotor activity at all doses, with no effect on core body temperature or motoric impairment, resulting in behavioral sensitization. Lastly, it was predicted that the combined administration of 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 will cause tolerance across all three measures: core body temperature, motoric impairment, and locomotor activity.

Locomotor Activity

Repeated administration of either saline, 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT, 5 mg/kg CP- 94253, or the combined treatment of DPAT + CP during the pretreatment phase (PD 17- PD 20), there was an interaction effect of pretreatment and day observed with locomotor activity scores [Pretreatment × Day interaction, *F* (3, 156) = 5.383, *p*<.001] (Figure 9, upper graph). Specifically, over the four-day pretreatment period, rats treated with DPAT + CP, and 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT exhibited significantly greater locomotor activity scores compared to rats treated with 5 mg/kg CP- 94253 and saline controls (Figure 9, upper graph) [Tukey test, *p* < 0.05], and this effect changed over days.

On PD 17, rats treated with DPAT + CP, and 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT exhibited significantly greater locomotor activity scores compared to rats treated with 5 mg/kg CP- 94253 and saline controls [Pretreatment main effect, F(3, 52) =38.936, p < 0.001] (Figure 9, upper graph) [Tukey test, p < 0.05]. Moreover, DPAT + CP produced the greatest locomotor activity, followed by 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT, while 5 mg/kg CP-94253-treated animals did not differ from saline-treated animals [Tukey test, p < 0.05].

On PD 18, there was a main effect of dose observed with locomotor activity scores [Pretreatment main effect, F(3, 52) = 8.693, p < .001] (Figure 9, upper graph). Animals that received DPAT + CP had significantly greater locomotor activity than rats treated with 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT, 5 mg/kg CP-94253, or saline [Tukey test, p < 0.05]. Although animals treated with DPAT + CP continue to produce the greatest distance traveled scores, there is a significant decrease in locomotor activity on PD 17 compared to PD 18.

On PD 19, there was a main effect of dose observed with locomotor activity scores [Pretreatment main effect, F(3, 52) = 21.069, p < 0.001] (Figure 9, upper graph). Subjects treated with DPAT + CP, and 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT exhibited significantly greater locomotor activity scores compared to rats treated with 5 mg/kg CP- 94253 and saline controls [Tukey test, p < 0.05].

On the final day of the pretreatment phase (PD 20), there was a main effect of dose observed with locomotor activity scores [Pretreatment main effect, F(3, 52) = 39.561, p < 0.001] (Figure 9, upper graph). Specifically, rats treated with DPAT + CP, and 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT exhibited significantly greater locomotor activity scores compared to rats treated with 5 mg/kg CP- 94253 and saline controls (Figure 9, upper graph) [Tukey test, p < 0.05]. Animals treated with DPAT + CP continue to produce the greatest distance traveled scores, although there is a significant decrease in locomotor activity from their initial treatment on PD 17 compared to the fourth treatment (PD 20). Rats treated with 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT exhibited significantly greater locomotor activity scores

compared to rats treated with 5 mg/kg CP- 94253 and saline controls [Tukey test, p < 0.05].

On Test Day (PD 22), after receiving multiple injections of either saline, 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT, 5 mg/kg CP- 94253, or the combined treatment of DPAT + CP, there was a main effect of dose observed with locomotor activity scores [Group main effect, F(6, 49) = 19.20, p < .001] (Figure 9, lower graph). Specifically, subjects that received consecutive treatments of 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT also had greater distance traveled scores compared to the 8-OH-DPAT for the first time on PD 22. Conversely, rats that received multiple injections of 5 mg/kg CP-94253 had a significant decrease in distance traveled scores compared to animals treated with CP-94253 for the first time on PD 22 [Figure 9, lower graph; Tukey test, p < 0.05]. Moreover, rats that received multiple treatments of DPAT + CP exhibited greater distance traveled scores compared to rats that only received one treatment of DPAT + CP (Sal-DPAT + CP group; Figure 9, lower graph).

In sum, multiple injections of DPAT + CP during the pretreatment phase (PD 17- PD 20) resulted in a progressive decrease in distance traveled scores (Figure 9, upper graph). However, the same animals exhibited significantly greater distance traveled scores on test day (PD 22), compared to rats that received their first injection, which is indicative of locomotor sensitization. Repeated injections of 8-OH-DPAT during the pretreatment phase resulted in a gradual increase in locomotor activity (Figure 9, upper graph). On test day, the

same animals continued to have an increase in locomotor activity compared to their initial treatment on PD 17, which indicates locomotor sensitization is present. Rats treated with CP-94253 did not have a significant effect on locomotor activity scores throughout the pretreatment phase (Figure 9, upper graph). However, the same rats showed a significant decrease in locomotor activity on PD 22, indicating a tolerance effect (Figure 9, lower graph).



Figure 9. Mean (±) distance traveled on the pretreatment day (upper graph) and test day (lower graph) of male and female preweanling rats. Rats were injected with saline or 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg) and CP 94253 (5 mg/kg, ip) alone or together on the pretreatment day (PD 20). On the test day (PD 22), 8-OH-DPAT, CP 94253, or DPAT+CP pretreated rats were injected with the same dose again

while saline pretreated rats were injected with 8-OH-DPAT, CP 94253, or DPAT+CP.

- (a) Significantly different from saline-treated rats on the same postnatal day.
- (b) Significantly different from the same drug group on PD 17.
- (c) Significantly different from rats given the same drug for the first time on PD 22 (i.e., Sal- DPAT, Sal- CP, Sal- DPAT+CP groups).
- (d) Significantly different from rats treated with 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg) or CP 94253 (5 mg/kg) alone.

Axillary Temperature

Repeated administration of either saline, 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT, 5 mg/kg CP- 94253, or the combined treatment of DPAT + CP during the pretreatment phase (PD 17- PD 20), there was an overall an interaction effect of pretreatment and day observed with axial temperatures [Pretreatment \times Day interaction, ^{*b*}*F* (2, 156) = 257.188 *p*<.001] (Figure 10, upper graph). Specifically, over the four-day pretreatment period, rats treated with DPAT + CP, 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT and 5 mg/kg CP- 94253 exhibited significant decrease in core body temperatures compared to saline controls (Figure 10, left graph), and this effect changed over days.

On PD 17, rats treated with DPAT + CP, 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT, or 5 mg/kg CP- 94253 resulted in a significant decrease in axillary temperature compared saline controls [Pretreatment main effect, F(3, 52) = 184.81, p < .001] (Figure 10, upper graph) [Tukey test, p < 0.05].

On PD 18, there was a main effect of dose observed with core body temperatures [Pretreatment main effect, F(3, 52) = 168.97, p < .001] (Figure 10, upper graph). Animals that received multiple injections of DPAT + CP or 4 mg/kg

8-OH-DPAT, had a significant increase in axillary temperatures compared to their initial treatment on PD 17, while the temperatures of rats that received 5 mg/kg CP-94253 were not significantly different than our saline- treated rats [Tukey test, p < 0.05].

On PD 19, there was a main effect of dose observed with axillary temperatures [Pretreatment main effect, F(3, 52) = 137.603, p < .001] (Figure 10, upper graph). Subjects treated with DPAT + CP or 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT exhibited a significant increase in core body temperatures compared to saline controls [Tukey test, p < 0.05]. However, 5 mg/kg CP- 9425 did not significantly differ in axillary temperatures than saline-treated animals.

On the final day of the pretreatment phase (PD 20), there was a main effect of dose observed with core body temperatures [Pretreatment main effect, F(3, 52) = 134.226, p <.001] (Figure 10, upper graph). Specifically, rats treated with DPAT + CP or 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT resulted in an increase in axillary temperatures compared to saline controls (Figure 10, upper graph) [Tukey test, p< 0.05]. Animals treated with DPAT + CP and 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT continue to produce an increase in core body temperature throughout the pretreatment phase compared to their initial treatment on PD 17. Conversely, animals treated with 5 mg/kg CP 94253 did not significantly differ from saline-treated animals.

On Test Day (PD 22), after receiving multiple injections of either saline, 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT, 5 mg/kg CP- 94253, or the combined treatment of DPAT + CP, there was a main effect of Group observed with axillary temperatures [Group
main effect, F(6, 56) = 108.823, p < 0.001] (Figure 10, lower graph). Subjects that received their first drug treatment on PD 22 (Sal- Drug groups) exhibited an analogous pattern to the Drug- Drug groups on PD 17, such that there was a significant decrease in core body temperatures in all drug groups compared to saline controls [Tukey test, p < 0.05] (Figure 10, lower graph). Regarding the all Drug- Drug groups, animals that received multiple injections of 8-OH-DPAT, CP 94253, or DPAT+CP had a significant increase in core body temperatures throughout the pretreatment phase compared to the rats that received their first drug treatment on PD 22 (Sal- Drug groups) which is indicative of tolerance (Figure 10, lower graph) [Tukey test, p < 0.05].

In sum, multiple injections of DPAT + CP, 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT, and CP-94253 during the pretreatment phase (PD 17- PD 20) resulted in tolerance to the drug's effects which were observed through the progressive increase in axillary temperatures (Figure 10, upper graph). On test day (PD 22), the same animals continued to have an increase in core body temperatures compared to their initial treatment on PD 17, although animals treated with DPAT + CP had the lowest core body temperatures (Figure 10, lower graph) [Tukey test, p < 0.05].



Figure 10. Mean (±) axial temperatures on the pretreatment day (upper graph) and test day (lower graph) of male and female preweanling rats. Rats were injected with saline or 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg) and CP 94253 (5 mg/kg, ip) alone or together on the pretreatment day (PD 20). On the test day (PD 22), 8-OH-DPAT, CP 94253, or DPAT+CP pretreated rats were injected with the same dose again while saline pretreated rats were injected with 8-OH-DPAT, CP 94253, or DPAT+CP.

- (a) Significantly different from saline-treated rats on the same postnatal day.
- (b) Significantly different from the same drug group on PD 17.
- (c) Significantly different from rats given the same drug for the first time on PD 22 (i.e., Sal- DPAT, Sal- CP, Sal- DPAT+CP groups).
- (d)Significantly different from rats treated with 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg) or CP 94253 (5 mg/kg) alone.

Motoric Capacity

Animals receiving a single or multiple injections of 4 mg/kg 8-OH DPAT, 5 mg/kg CP- 94253, or the combination of DPAT + CP had no effect on motoric capacity during the pretreatment phase (PD 17- 20) or the test day (PD 22) (data not shown).

Table 3.

Age-Treatment				5- Minu	te Time	Blocks			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
PD20									
Saline	0.25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
8-OH-DPAT (1mg/kg)	3	3	3	1	3	0	0	0	0
8-OH-DPAT (2mg/kg)	4	5ª	2	1	3	0	0	1	0
8-OH-DPAT (4mg/kg)	3	3.5ª	3ª	1	3	3	3	1	0
8-OH-DPAT (8mg/kg)	5ª	4 ^a	3	0	0	3	0	0	0
PD22									
Saline-DPAT	2.5	2	2	1.5	0	0	0	0	0
DPAT-DPAT (1mg/kg)	1.5	1	1	0.5	0	0	0	0	0
Saline-DPAT	3	2.5	2	2	1	0	0	0	0
DPAT-DPAT (2mg/kg)	2	2	0.5	0	1	0	0	0.5	0
Saline-DPAT	5	4	3	3	2.5	2.5	2	2	1.5
DPAT-DPAT (4mg/kg)	3	3	3	2	2	1	1	2	2
Saline-DPAT	4	4	4	3	1.5	3	2	2.5	0
DPAT-DPAT (8mg/kg)	4	3	3	0.5	3	3	3	2	1

Experiment 1b. Effects of saline and repeated high dose (1-8 mg/kg) treatment with the 5-HT_{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT on the motoric capacity scores of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure.

Note: Higher numbers mean greater impairment in motoric capacity (See Table 2). ^a Significantly different from saline-treated rats on PD 20 (Dunn's tests, p<.05).

Table 4.

Age-Treatme				5- Min	ute Time	e Blocks			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
PD20									
Saline	0	0	0	0	0	0.1	0	0	0.2
CP 94253 (2.5mg/kg)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
CP 94253 (5mg/kg)	0	0	0	0	1.5	0	1.5	1.5	0
CP 94253 (10mg/kg)	0	2	1	3	3.5ª	3	0	0	1.5
CP 94253 (20mg/kg)	5 ^a	6 ^a	6 ^a	7.5ª	8 ^a	8 ^a	8 ^a	8 ^a	8ª
PD22									
Saline- CP	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
(2.5mg/kg) CP-CP (2.5mg/kg)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Saline-CP	0	0	0.5	0	0	0	0	0	0
(5mg/kg) CP-CP (5mg/kg)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Saline-CP	1.5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
(10mg/kg) CP-CP (10mg/kg)	0.5	0	0	1	0	0.5	0	1	1
Saline-CP	3	5	5.5	5.5	4.5	2.5	6	4	2.5
(20mg/kg) CP-CP (20mg/kg)	3	3	4	3 ^b	0 ^b	1.5°	$0^{\rm b,c}$	0 ^c	0 ^c

Experiment 2. Effects of saline and repeated 5-HT_{1B} agonist CP 94253 (2.5- 20 mg/kg) on the motoric capacity scores of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure.

Note: Higher numbers mean greater impairment in motoric capacity (See Table 2).

^a Significantly different from saline-treated rats on PD 20 (Dunn's tests, p<.05).

^b Significantly different from the Saline- CP group injected with the same dose of CP-94253 (Mann- Whitney *U*-tests, *p*<.05.

° Significantly different from the Drug-Drug group on PD 20 (Wilcoxon signed-rank tests, p<.05).

Table	5.
-------	----

Age-Treatment	5- Minute Time Blocks								
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
PD20									
Saline	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
DPAT+CP	5 ^a	5 ^a	5 ^a	5.5ª	5 ^a	5 ^a	5.5ª	5 ^a	5 ^a
PD22									
Saline- Saline	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Saline-DPAT+CP	3 ^b	3 ^b	3 ^b	3 ^b	2.5 ^b	2.5 ^b	2.5 ^b	2.5	2.5 ^b
DPAT+CP- DPAT+CP	1.5 ^b	2 ^{b,c}	3 ^b	3 ^{b,c}					

Experiment 3. Effects of combined treatment with 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 (DPAT+CP) on the motoric capacity of male and female preweanling rats: Two-day procedure

Note: Higher numbers mean greater impairment in motoric capacity (See Table 2).

^a Significantly different from Saline-treated rats on PD 20 (Dunn's tests, p<.05).

^b Significantly different from Saline-Saline group on PD 22 (Dunn's tests, *p*<.05). ^c Significantly different from DPAT + CP group tested on PD 20 (Wilcoxon signed-rank tests, *p*<.05).

Та	ıb	le	6

Age-Treatment		5- Minute Time Blocks								
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	
PD 22										
Saline-DPAT (4mg/kg)	1. 5	2.5	0.5	1.5	1	0.5	0.5	0	1.5	
DPAT-DPAT (4mg/kg)	1	2	2	0.5	1	1	1	0.5	1	
Saline-CP (5mg/kg)	0	0.5	0	0	0	0.5	0	1	0	
CP+CP (5mg/kg)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Saline- DPAT+CP	3	2.5	2	2.5	2.5	2	2	2	2	
DPAT+CP- DPAT+CP	1.5	1.5	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	

Experiment 4. Effects of 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg), CP 94253 (5 mg/kg), or DPAT+CP on the motoric capacity of male and female preweanling rats: Five-day procedure

Note: Higher numbers mean greater impairment in motoric capacity (See Table 2).

CHAPTER SEVEN: DISCUSSION

The current pharmacological interventions used in pediatric populations to treat disorders such anxiety and depression are not tested for their effectiveness in these populations. Moreover, some drug treatments have been reported to increase suicidality in adolescents and young adults (Zhou et al., 2020). The large number of children and adolescents that have psychiatric disorders coupled with the lack of validated treatments has created a large need for new effective psychotropic medications for juveniles (Hollander, Phillips & Yeh, 2003; Brummelte et al., 2017; Hirsch, 2018; Salokangas et al., 2018; Langerberg et al., 2019).

Recently, the preclinical 5-HT_{1A/1B} agonist drug RU 24969 has shown efficacy in an animal model of depression (Tiger et al., 2018). This compound could be a new class of antidepressants and may have a more favorable profile for pediatric users. However, most of what is known about RU 24969 is from research using adult animals, and the effect may differ in younger age groups. A better understanding of how 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} agonists work at different stages of development is important for determining the utility of RU 24969 as a clinical intervention. Thus, in this study, we assessed the unlearned effects of the 5-HT_{1A} agonist, 8-OH-DPAT and the 5-HT_{1B} agonist CP 94253 in young male and female rats. Specifically, we administered the 5-HT_{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT (0.1- 8

mg/kg), and the 5-HT_{1B} receptor agonist CP 94253 (2.5, 5, 10, or 20 mg/kg) alone, and in combination to examine the effects of single-trial (one pretreatment day) and repeated treatment (four pretreatment days) on locomotor activity, axillary temperatures, and motoric capacity.

The Effects of a Single Pretreatment Day with the 5-HT 1A Receptor Agonist 8-OH-DPAT

We hypothesized that 8-OH-DPAT would result in behavioral sensitization, characterized by a dose-dependent increase in locomotor activity, a larger decrease in core body temperature, and an increase in motoric impairment. In general, our predictions on locomotor activity and motoric capacity were unsupported, whereas our predictions for axillary temperature were supported.

The present study demonstrated that single-trial administration of 8-OH-DPAT (0.1-8 mg/kg) neither increased (induced behavioral sensitization) or decreased (produced tolerance) locomotor activity at any dose. Although past studies have shown that acutely, 8-OH-DPAT increases locomotor activity (Tricklebank et al., 1984; Evenden 1992; Evenden, Ryan & Palejko, 1995; De La Garza & Cunningham, 2000), other studies have shown that 8-OH-DPAT decreases activity (Mittman & Geyer, 1989; Carli et al., 1989; Hillegaart et al., 1989; Johnson & Ahlenius, 1989; Evenden & Angeby-Moller, 1990), or has no effect on activity (Woodall et al., 1996). Limited research examining the single

trial effects of 8-OH-DPAT found that it does not cause sensitization or tolerance with two drug treatments (Sipos et al., 2000; Bert et al., 2006).

In agreement to our hypothesis however, we found that single-trial administration of 8-OH-DPAT caused tolerance for axillary temperatures at higher doses (0.4, 0.8, 4, and 8 mg/kg) (Figure 2, right graph). In line with past research findings, initial administration of 8-OH-DPAT causes hypothermia and subsequent administration produces a rapid tolerance to these effects (Hillegaart et al., 1989).

Similar to locomotor activity, the effects of 8-OH-DPAT (0.1-8 mg/kg) on motoric capacity was not altered by a second exposure to the drug at any dose. Past research has found that treatment with 8-OH-DPAT induces a behavioral syndrome expressed through flat body posture, forepaw treading, and head weaving in adult mice after two injections (Bert et al., 2006). Although there is limited information on how 8-OH-DPAT affects motoric capacity in a single-trial paradigm, there is evidence that acute administration also causes motoric incapacity as soon as 30 minutes post-injection (Tricklebank et al., 1984, Evenden & Angeby-Möller, 1990).

The Effects of a Single Pretreatment Day with the 5-HT 1B Agonist CP 94253

We hypothesized that a single administration of CP 94253 would result in behavioral sensitization, as shown by an enhanced behavioral response and a dose-dependent increase in locomotor activity and would have no effect on core body temperature or motor impairment. In general, our predictions on locomotor activity, axillary temperatures, and motoric capacity were unsupported.

The data from our present study does not support that single-trial administration with CP 94253 (2, 5, 10, or 20 mg/kg) alters locomotor activity at any dose. There is limited information on the locomotor effects of CP 94253, mostly because research on this drug focuses on reducing the rewarding properties of cocaine.

Contrary to our hypothesis, we found that two treatments of CP 94253 resulted in tolerance for axial temperature changes (Figure 6, right graph). To our knowledge, past research has not examined the single-trial effects of CP 94253 in depth because it does not affect axial temperatures in adults (Fish et al., 1999). However, there is evidence that it acutely decreases axial temperatures in adult and preweanling rats (McDougall et al., 2022). The findings from the present study are in partial agreement with previous studies, in that treatment with CP 94253 initially causes hypothermia, and this effect reverses with a drug second treatment.

In terms of motoric capacity, tolerance was observed but only present for subjects that received two injections of 20 mg/kg CP 94253 (See Table 4).

Although past research has shown that CP 94253 does not have much of an effect on adult rodent behavior (Fish et al., 1999; Dalton et al., 2004; Der-Ghazarian et al., 2017), none of these studies have examined the motoric effects for preweanling animals (to my knowledge). The results from the present study demonstrate that two treatments of 20 mg/kg CP 94253 causes behavioral tolerance to motoric impairment in preweanling rats.

The Effects of a Single Pretreatment Day with the 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253

It was hypothesized that single-trial treatment of 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg) and CP 94253 (5 mg/kg) co-administered would result in elevated locomotor activity, a decrease in core body temperatures, and greater motoric impairment after two treatments. In general, our predictions on locomotor activity and axillary temperatures were unsupported, whereas our predictions for motoric capacity were supported.

In contrast to our hypothesis, we found that single-trial administration of DPAT+CP did not differentially affect the locomotor activity (See Figures 7 & 8, right graphs). This effect is surprising, because past research has demonstrated RU 24969 produces an enhanced behavioral effect upon initial administration, but then causes tolerance to the locomotor activity inducing effect that can be observed after the second administration (Oberlander et al., 1987; Harrison et al, 1997; McDougall et al., 2020).

Two treatments of DPAT+CP did not differentially affect axillary temperatures of animals that received one treatment or two drug treatments (See Figures 7 & 8, right graphs). This effect is surprising because past studies have found that single-trial administration of 8-OH-DPAT causes hypothermia with its initial administration, and subsequent administration produces a rapid tolerance to these effects (Hillegaart et al., 1989). Additionally, CP 94253 administered acutely also decreases axial temperatures in preweanling and adult rats (McDougall et al., 2022).

The present data support that the co-administration of DPAT+CP increases motoric incapacity (See Table 5). These results are consistent with other studies showing the stimulation of 5-HT_{1A} 5-HT_{1B} receptors is needed in order to produce motoric incapacity (O' Niell & Parameswaran, 1997; Munoz et al., 2008).

The Effects of Repeated Pretreatment with the 8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg),

CP 94253 (5 mg/kg) or the Co-administration of DPAT+CP

8-OH-DPAT (4 mg/kg)

It was hypothesized that multiple injections of 8-OH-DPAT would show a progressively elevated locomotor response, resulting in sensitization, whereas, core body temperature and motor impairment would gradually decrease, resulting in tolerance. Our predictions on locomotor activity and axillary

temperatures were supported, while our predictions for motoric capacity were not supported.

In agreement with our hypothesis, we found that repeated administration of 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT resulted in locomotor behavioral sensitization and tolerance to axillary temperatures. Our results were consistent with reports stating that repeated treatment with 8-OH-DPAT increases locomotor activity (Evenden 1992; De La Garza & Cunningham, 2000) (See Figure 9, right and left graphs). Additionally, we found that repeated treatment with 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT increased axillary temperatures in our subjects, resulting in tolerance (De Souza et al., 1986; Evenden & Ryan, 1992) (Figure 10, right graph). The tolerance found with repeated treatment of 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT was concluded after the initial treatment greatly decreased core body temperatures, yet the subsequent drug treatments increased axial temperatures back to its original state.

In contrast to our predictions, we found that repeated treatment with 4 mg/kg 8-OH-DPAT did not differentially affect motoric capacity in our subjects, resulting in neither sensitization nor tolerance (data not shown). This effect differs from past research that has found that multiple injections of 8-OH-DPAT causes tolerance (Evenden & Ryan, 1999). For example, in a study examining motoric capacity through lever pressing in adult rats, it was reported that 8-OH-DPAT initially caused motoric incapacity, resulting in the subject's inability to press the lever (Evenden & Ryan, 1999). However, this effect was guickly reversed, and

the subjects regained the ability to press the lever, indicating that repeated treatment with 8-OH-DPAT causes tolerance in motoric capacity.

<u>CP 94253 (5 mg/kg)</u>

We hypothesized that multiple injections of CP 94253 would result in locomotor sensitization, with no effect on core body temperature or motoric impairment. Our predictions on locomotor activity and axillary temperatures were not supported, while our predictions for motoric capacity were supported.

In contrast to our hypothesis, we found that repeated treatment with 5 mg/kg CP 94253 results in tolerance, which can be observed through the decrease in distance traveled scores on the test day (Figure 9, right graph). The tolerance effect found in our study is interesting, because it conflicts with past research that has found that CP 94253 increases locomotor activity in preweanling rodents after one injection (Fish et al., 2000; Der-Ghazarian et al., 2017).

Repeated treatment with 5 mg/kg CP 94253 on axillary temperatures produced interesting results. Initial treatment with CP 94253 caused a significant decrease in core body temperatures causing hypothermia, but that effect was reversed with subsequent treatments (Figure 10, right graph). Specifically, our data shows that tolerance was developed after the second drug treatment. To our knowledge, the only studies available on the effects of CP 94253 have studied it acutely and have found that it does not affect axial temperatures in adult rats (Fish et al., 2000).

Treatment with CP 94253 did not differentially affect motoric capacity for animals receiving one or multiple drug treatments, resulting in neither sensitization nor tolerance (data not shown). To our knowledge, studies have not previously examined the effect CP 94253 has on motoric capacity in adults or preweanling rodents, however, the mixed 5-HT_{1A/1B} agonist RU 24969 initially causes motoric impairment, but each subsequent injection causes behavioral tolerance to this effect (Oberlander et al., 1987; Harrison et al., 1997; McDougall et al., 2020).

<u>Co-administration of DPAT (4 mg/kg) + CP (5 mg/kg)</u>

We hypothesized that multiple injections of 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 given in combination would decrease locomotor activity, increase core body temperature, and decrease motor impairments inducing tolerance at all doses. In general, our predictions on locomotor activity and motoric capacity were unsupported, whereas our predictions for axillary temperatures were supported.

In contrast to our hypothesis regarding locomotor activity, we found that rats that received multiple treatments of DPAT + CP exhibited greater distance traveled scores on PD 22 compared to rats that only received one treatment of DPAT + CP (Sal- DPAT + CP group; Figure 9, right graph) causing locomotor sensitization. This effect is interesting because the 5-HT_{1A/1B} agonist RU 24969 initially increases locomotor activity, but then produces a tolerance to these effects as soon as the second drug administration (Oberlander et al., 1987; McDougall et al., 2020).

Our data supports past findings stating that repeated treatment with DPAT + CP results in behavioral tolerance for axial temperatures (Figure 9, right graph). Despite the absence of studies examining the effects of DPAT + CP on axial temperatures, we predicted that these effects would be similar to that of RU24969.

Additionally, we found that there was no difference in motoric capacity in animals that received a single or multiple injections, resulting in neither sensitization nor tolerance (data not shown). This finding is surprising, because past research has demonstrated that the co-administration of the 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} receptor agonists suppressed abnormal involuntary movements in MPTP-treated subjects by 80% after the fourth administration.

In comparing the effects of the direct 5-HT_{1A} agonist 8-OH-DPAT and 5-HT_{1B} agonist CP 94253 alone and in combination to the mixed 5-HT_{1A/1B} agonist RU 24969, there were many differences. We found that single-trial administration of 8-OH-DPAT (0.1-8 mg/kg) does not result in locomotor sensitization nor tolerance, which is consistent with past research using the single-trial paradigm (Woodall et al., 1996; Sipos et al., 2000). Possible explanations for these differences could be attributed to the differences in the doses administered, the route of administration (i.e., intraperitoneal, subcutaneous), age, and the type of species (Perry & Fuller, 1989; Evenden & Angeby-Möller, 1990; Evenden, 1992). Additionally, we found that repeated administration of 8-OH-DPAT (0.1-8 mg/kg) does not cause sensitization or tolerance to motoric capacity in younger animals.

The different effects seen in the present study differ from the reported effects of RU 24969. Studies have established that RU 24969 initially increases locomotor activity and causes motoric impairment, but each subsequent injection causes behavioral tolerance to these effects (Oberlander et al., 1987; Harrison et al., 1997; McDougall et al., 2020).

Two treatments of CP 94253 (2, 5, 10, or 20 mg/kg) did not alter locomotor activity at any dose, however, it causes tolerance to axial temperatures. Although CP 94253 treatment does not appear to affect locomotor activity in adults, there is evidence showing that it acutely increases activity in 7day-old mouse pups (Fish et al., 2000). In terms of axillary temperatures, there is evidence showing that CP 94253 acutely decreases axial temperatures in preweanling rats (McDougall et al., 2022). This effect partially supports the findings from the present study in that it decreases core body temperatures of preweanling rats 60 minutes post-injection. It differs from our study however, because the observed effects occurred with two injections while acute studies only examined axial temperatures on a single day.

Additionally, we found that multiple injections of CP 94253 cause tolerance to locomotor activity and axillary temperature. Possible explanations for the tolerance effect observed in our study can be attributed to the duration of testing, where Fish et al. (2000) examined the acute effects of the drug in 7-dayold (PD 7) mice for four minutes and injected their animals subcutaneously. The present study used a different methodology, where we examined the repeated

effects of CP 94253 on locomotor activity, injected intraperitoneally, and used slightly older rats (PD 17-22). In terms of axillary temperatures, there is conflicting evidence that CP 94253 acutely decreases axial temperatures in preweanling and adult rats (McDougall et al., 2022), while another study has found that it has no effect on axillary temperatures (Fish et al., 2000). A possible explanation for this effect may be due to the difference in the route of administration, where one study injected subcutaneously (Fish et al., 2000), while the other injected intraperitoneally (McDougall et al., 2022), which is the method we used for our study, and is consistent with our findings.

In summary, the effects observed through single and multi-trial paradigms with the direct agonists 8-OH-DPAT and CP 94253 administered alone and in combination differ from the mixed agonist RU 24969. This suggests that therapeutic effects observed with RU 24969 treatment are unique and may possibly stimulate additional receptors. The 5-HT_{1 A/B} receptors are important for modulation of neurotransmitter systems other than serotonin, such as dopamine and acetylcholine (Sarhan et al., 1999; Fink & Göthert, 2007; Hagan et al., 2012). Although the underlying mechanisms of RU 24969 are not well understood, studies have found that it not only stimulates the 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} receptors, but also stimulates the 5-HT_{1C}, and 5-HT_{1D} receptors (Oliver et al., 1993), with the highest affinity for the 5-HT_{1B} receptor (Waeber, Schoeffter, and Hoyer, 1990; Harrison et al., 1999). In our study, the tolerance observed with CP 94253 treatment in two of our three measures (all except motoric capacity) were similar

to that of RU 24969. Specifically, we observed that repeated treatment of either drug (CP 94253 and RU 24969) initially increases locomotor activity and hypothermia, but tolerance to these effects occurs as soon as the second drug treatment (Oberlander et al., 1987; Harrison et al., 1997; McDougall et al., 2020). Harrison et al. (1999) found that RU 24969 facilitates dopamine release in the striatum and nucleus accumbens and suggests that its effects are not a result of reduced serotonin neurotransmission. Instead, they postulated that RU 24969's behavioral effects are caused by alterations of glutamate, acetylcholine, or GABA neurotransmission induced by RU 24969's high affinity for the 5-HT_{1B} receptor.

REFERENCES

- Airan, R. D., Meltzer, L. A., Roy, M., Gong, Y., Chen, H., & Deisseroth, K. (2007).
 High-speed imaging reveals neurophysiological links to behavior in an animal model of depression. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *317*(5839), 819–823.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1144400
- Anagnostaras, S. G., & Robinson, T. E. (1996). Sensitization to the psychomotor stimulant effects of amphetamine: modulation by associative learning. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *110*(6), 1397–1414. https://doi.org/10.1037//0735-

7044.110.6.1397

- Anagnostaras, S. G., Schallert, T., & Robinson, T. E. (2002). Memory processes governing amphetamine-induced psychomotor sensitization. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *26*(6), 703–715. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(01)00402-X
- Azolosa, J. L., Stitzer, M. L., & Greenwald, M. K. (1994). Opioid physical dependence development: effects of single versus repeated morphine pretreatments and of subjects' opioid exposure history. *Psychopharmacology*, *114*(1), 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02245446
- Barnes, N. M., & Sharp, T. (1999). A review of central 5-HT receptors and their function. *Neuropharmacology*, 38(8), 1083–1152. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0028-3908(99)00010-6

Barth, J., Munder, T., Gerger, H., Nüesch, E., Trelle, S., Znoj, H., Jüni, P., & Cuijpers,
P. (2013). Comparative efficacy of seven psychotherapeutic interventions for patients with depression: a network meta-analysis. *PLoS Medicine*, *10*(5), e1001454. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001454

Berger, M., Gray, J. A., & Roth, B. L. (2009). The expanded biology of serotonin. Annual Review of Medicine, 60, 355–366.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.med.60.042307.110802

Bert, B., Fink, H., Hörtnagl, H., Veh, R. W., Davies, B., Theuring, F., & Kusserow, H. (2006). Mice over-expressing the 5-HT(1A) receptor in cortex and dentate gyrus display exaggerated locomotor and hypothermic response to 8-OH-DPAT.
Behavioural Brain Research, 167(2), 328–341.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2005.09.020

- Bespalov, A., Müller, R., Relo, A. L., & Hudzik, T. (2016). Drug Tolerance: A Known Unknown in Translational Neuroscience. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 37(5), 364–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2016.01.008
- Brenhouse, H. C., & Andersen, S. L. (2011). Developmental trajectories during adolescence in males and females: a cross-species understanding of underlying brain changes. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *35*(8), 1687–1703. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.04.013
- Bridge, J. A., Iyengar, S., Salary, C. B., Barbe, R. P., Birmaher, B., Pincus, H. A.,Ren, L., & Brent, D. A. (2007). Clinical response and risk for reported suicidal ideation and suicide attempts in pediatric antidepressant treatment: a meta-

analysis of randomized controlled trials. *JAMA*, *297*(15), 1683–1696. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.297.15.1683

- Brummelte, S., Mc Glanaghy, E., Bonnin, A., & Oberlander, T. F. (2017).
 Developmental changes in serotonin signaling: Implications for early brain function, behavior and adaptation. *Neuroscience*, *342*, 212–231.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.02.037
- Canli, T., & Lesch, K. P. (2007). Long story short: the serotonin transporter in emotion regulation and social cognition. *Nature Neuroscience*, *10*(9), 1103–1109. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1964
- Carli, M., Prontera, C., & Samanin, R. (1989). Effect of 5-HT1A agonists on stressinduced deficit in open field locomotor activity of rats: evidence that this model identifies anxiolytic-like activity. *Neuropharmacology*, *28*(5), 471–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3908(89)90081-6
- Chojnacka-Wójcik E. (1992). Functional interaction between 5-HT1B and 5-HT1A or 5-HT2 receptors in mice. *Polish Journal of Pharmacology and Pharmacy*, *44*(3), 251–260.
- Cipriani, A., Furukawa, T. A., Salanti, G., Chaimani, A., Atkinson, L. Z., Ogawa, Y.,
 Leucht, S., Ruhe, H. G., Turner, E. H., Higgins, J., Egger, M., Takeshima, N.,
 Hayasaka, Y., Imai, H., Shinohara, K., Tajika, A., Ioannidis, J., & Geddes, J. R.
 (2018). Comparative efficacy and acceptability of 21 antidepressant drugs for the acute treatment of adults with major depressive disorder: a systematic review

and network meta-analysis. *Lancet*, *391*(10128), 1357–1366. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32802-7

- Dalton, G. L., Lee, M. D., Kennett, G. A., Dourish, C. T., & Clifton, P. G. (2004). mCPP-induced hyperactivity in 5-HT2C receptor mutant mice is mediated by activation of multiple 5-HT receptor subtypes. *Neuropharmacology*, *46*(5), 663– 671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2003.11.012
- Davidoff, M. S., & Lolova, I. S. (1991). Age-related changes in serotoninimmunoreactivity in the telencephalon and diencephalon of rats. *Journal fur Hirnforschung*, *3*2(6), 745–753.
- de Boer, S. F., & Koolhaas, J. M. (2005). 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B receptor agonists and aggression: a pharmacological challenge of the serotonin deficiency hypothesis.
 European Journal of Pharmacology, *526*(1-3), 125–139.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2005.09.065
- De La Garza, R., 2nd, & Cunningham, K. A. (2000). The effects of the 5hydroxytryptamine(1A) agonist 8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino) tetralin on spontaneous activity, cocaine-induced hyperactivity and behavioral sensitization: a microanalysis of locomotor activity. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 292(2), 610–617 **[no doi].**
- Der-Ghazarian, T. S., Call, T., Scott, S. N., Dai, K., Brunwasser, S. J., Noudali, S. N., Pentkowski, N. S., & Neisewander, J. L. (2017). Effects of a 5-HT1B Receptor Agonist on Locomotion and Reinstatement of Cocaine-Conditioned Place

Preference after Abstinence from Repeated Injections in Mice. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, *11*, 73. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2017.00073

- Dourish, C. T., Hutson, P. H., & Curzon, G. (1985). Low doses of the putative serotonin agonist 8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino) tetralin (8-OH-DPAT) elicit feeding in the rat. *Psychopharmacology*, *86*(1-2), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00431709
- Evenden J. L. (1992). Effects of 8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino) tetralin (8-OH-DPAT) after repeated administration on a conditioned avoidance response (CAR) in the rat. *Psychopharmacology*, *109*(1-2), 134–144.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02245491

- Evenden, J., Ryan, C., & Palejko, W. (1995). The effects of repeated treatment with 8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino) tetralin (8-OH-DPAT) on the lever press responding of the rat under FI and DRL schedules of food reinforcement. *Psychopharmacology*, *120*(1), 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02246148
- Evenden, J. L., & Ryan, C. N. (1999). The pharmacology of impulsive behavior in rats
 VI: the effects of ethanol and selective serotonergic drugs on response choice
 with varying delays of reinforcement. *Psychopharmacology*, *146*(4), 413–421.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/pl00005486
- Evenden, J. L., & Angeby-Möller, K. (1990). Effects of 8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino)
 tetralin (8-OH-DPAT) on locomotor activity and rearing of mice and rats. *Psychopharmacology*, *102*(4), 485–491. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02247129

- Fink, K. B., & Göthert, M. (2007). 5-HT receptor regulation of neurotransmitter release. *Pharmacological Reviews*, *59*(4), 360–417. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.107.07103
- Fish, E. W., Sekinda, M., Ferrari, P. F., Dirks, A., & Miczek, K. A. (2000). Distress vocalizations in maternally separated mouse pups: modulation via 5-HT(1A), 5-HT(1B) and GABA(A) receptors. *Psychopharmacology*, *149*(3), 277–285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002130000370
- Frazer, A., & Hensler, J. G. (1990). 5-HT1A receptors and 5-HT1A-mediated responses: effect of treatments that modify serotonergic neurotransmission. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 600, 460–475. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1990.tb16902.x
- Garcia-Garcia, A. L., Newman-Tancredi, A., & Leonardo, E. D. (2014). 5-HT(1A) [corrected] receptors in mood and anxiety: recent insights into autoreceptor versus heteroreceptor function. *Psychopharmacology*, *231*(4), 623–636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-013-3389-x
- Goodwin, G. M., De Souza, R. J., & Green, A. R. (1986). The effects of a 5-HT1 receptor ligand isapirone (TVX Q 7821) on 5-HT synthesis and the behavioural effects of 5-HT agonists in mice and rats. *Psychopharmacology*, *89*(3), 382–387. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00174379
- Goodwin, G. M., & Green, A. R. (1985). A behavioural and biochemical study in mice and rats of putative selective agonists and antagonists for 5-HT1 and 5-HT2

receptors. British Journal of Pharmacology, 84(3), 743–753.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.1985.tb16157.x

- Guo, F., Cai, J., Jia, Y., Wang, J., Jakšić, N., Kövi, Z., Šagud, M., & Wang, W. (2020).
 Symptom continuum reported by affective disorder patients through a structure-validated questionnaire. *BMC psychiatry*, *20*(1), 207.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-02631-y
- Hagan, C. E., McDevitt, R. A., Liu, Y., Furay, A. R., & Neumaier, J. F. (2012). 5HT(1B) autoreceptor regulation of serotonin transporter activity in synaptosomes. *Synapse (New York, N.Y.)*, *66*(12), 1024–1034.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.21608

Harrison, A. A., Parsons, L. H., Koob, G. F., & Markou, A. (1999). RU 24969, a 5-HT1A/1B agonist, elevates brain stimulation reward thresholds: an effect reversed by GR 127935, a 5-HT1B/1D antagonist. *Psychopharmacology*, *141*(3),

242–250. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002130050831

- Herbert, M. S., Der-Ghazarian, T., Palmer, A. G., & McDougall, S. A. (2010). One-trial cocaine-induced behavioral sensitization in preweanling rats: role of contextual stimuli. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *18*(3), 284–295. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019142
- Hillegaart, V., Wadenberg, M. L., & Ahlenius, S. (1989). Effects of 8-OH-DPAT on motor activity in the rat. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior*, 32(3), 797– 800. https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(89)90036-1

- Hillhouse, T. M., & Porter, J. H. (2015). A brief history of the development of antidepressant drugs: from monoamines to glutamate. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 23(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038550
- Hirsch G. S. (2018). Dosing and Monitoring: Children and Adolescents.

Psychopharmacology Bulletin, 48(2), 34–92.

- Hollander, E., Phillips, A. T., & Yeh, C. C. (2003). Targeted treatments for symptom domains in child and adolescent autism. *Lancet*, *362*(9385), 732–734.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14236-5
- Huynh H., Feldt L. S. (1976). Estimation of the Box for degrees of freedom from sample data in randomized block and split-plot designs. *J. Educ. Stat.* 1, 69–82.
 10.2307/1164736
- Johansson, C., & Ahlenius, S. (1989). Evidence for the involvement of 5-HT1A receptors in the mediation of exploratory locomotor activity in the rat. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, *3*(1), 32–35.

https://doi.org/10.1177/026988118900300106

- Krasnegor N. A. (1978). Behavioral tolerance: research and treatment implications: introduction. *NIDA Research Monograph*, (18), 1–3.
- Lagerberg, T., Molero, Y., D'Onofrio, B. M., Fernández de la Cruz, L., Lichtenstein,
 P., Mataix-Cols, D., Rück, C., Hellner, C., & Chang, Z. (2019). Antidepressant
 prescription patterns and CNS polypharmacy with antidepressants among
 children, adolescents, and young adults: a population-based study in Sweden.

European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, *28*(8), 1137–1145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-018-01269-2

- Lakhan, S. E., & Hagger-Johnson, G. E. (2007). The impact of prescribed
 psychotropics on youth. *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health: CP*& EMH, 3, 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-0179-3-21
- Lin, D., & Parsons, L. H. (2002). Anxiogenic-like effect of serotonin(1B) receptor stimulation in the rat elevated plus-maze. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior*, 71(4), 581–587. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0091-3057(01)00712-2
- Liu, R. J., Lambe, E. K., & Aghajanian, G. K. (2005). Somatodendritic autoreceptor regulation of serotonergic neurons: dependence on L-tryptophan and tryptophan hydroxylase-activating kinases. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, *21*(4), 945–958. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.03930.x
- Maroteaux, L., Saudou, F., Amlaiky, N., Boschert, U., Plassat, J. L., & Hen, R. (1992). Mouse 5HT1B serotonin receptor: cloning, functional expression, and localization in motor control centers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *89*(7), 3020–3024.

Martin, C., Hales, C., Gu, Q., & Ogden, C. (2019). Products - Data Briefs - Number 332 - February 2019. Retrieved October 22, 2020, from

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db334.htm

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.7.3020

- McDougall, S. A., Baella, S. A., Stuebner, N. M., Halladay, L. R., & Crawford, C. A. (2007). Cocaine-induced behavioral sensitization in preweanling and adult rats: effects of a single drug-environment pairing. *Psychopharmacology*, *193*(3), 323–332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-007-0788-x
- McDougall, S. A., Pothier, A. G., Der-Ghazarian, T., Herbert, M. S., Kozanian, O. O., Castellanos, K. A., & Flores, A. T. (2011a). Importance of associative learning processes for one-trial behavioral sensitization of preweanling rats. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, 22(7), 693–702. https://doi.org/10.1097/FBP.0b013e32834affb2
- McDougall, S. A., Kozanian, O. O., Greenfield, V. Y., Horn, L. R., Gutierrez, A.,
 Mohd-Yusof, A., & Castellanos, K. A. (2011b). One-trial behavioral sensitization
 in preweanling rats: differential effects of cocaine, methamphetamine,
 methylphenidate, and D-amphetamine. *Psychopharmacology*, *217*(4), 559–571.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-011-2316-2
- McDougall, S. A., Moran, A. E., Baum, T. J., Apodaca, M. G., & Real, V. (2017).
 Effects of ketamine on the unconditioned and conditioned locomotor activity of preadolescent and adolescent rats: impact of age, sex, and drug dose. *Psychopharmacology*, 234(18), 2683–2696. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-017-4660-3
- McDougall, S. A., Robinson, J., Ramirez, E. L., & Diaz, H. A. (2020a). Serotonin 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B receptors co-mediate the RU 24969-induced locomotor

activity of male and female preweanling rats. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 189*, 172857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2020.172857

- McDougall, S. A., Razo, J. L., Rios, J. W., & Taylor, J. A. (2020b). Effects of repeated RU 24969 treatment on the locomotor activity, motoric capacity, and axillary temperatures of male and female preweanling rats. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 398, 112982. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2020.112982
- McDougall, S. A., Montejano, N. R., Park, G. I., & Robinson, J. A. M. (2021).
 Importance of dopaminergic neurotransmission for the RU 24969-induced
 locomotor activity of male and female rats during the preweanling period. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, *394*(5), 903–913.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-020-02011-z
- McDougall, S. A., Roe, M. J., Robinson, J. A. M., Cotter, L. L., Gonzalez, D. J., Gleason, D. C., & Crawford, C. A. (2022). Effects of the serotonin 5-HT1B receptor agonist CP 94253 on the locomotor activity and body temperature of preweanling and adult male and female rats. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *926*, 175019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2022.175019
- Miller, D. K., McMahon, L. R., Green, T. A., Nation, J. R., & Wellman, P. J. (1998).
 Repeated administration of ephedrine induces behavioral sensitization in rats.
 Psychopharmacology, *140*(1), 52–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002130050738
- Mohd-Yusof, A., Veliz, A., Rudberg, K. N., Stone, M. J., Gonzalez, A. E., & McDougall, S. A. (2016). Effects of D2 or combined D1/D2 receptor antagonism on the methamphetamine-induced one-trial and multi-trial behavioral

sensitization of preweanling rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 233(5), 893–903. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-4170-0

Muñoz, A., Li, Q., Gardoni, F., Marcello, E., Qin, C., Carlsson, T., Kirik, D., Di Luca,
M., Björklund, A., Bezard, E., & Carta, M. (2008). Combined 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B receptor agonists for the treatment of L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. *Brain: a Journal of Neurology*, *131*(Pt 12), 3380–3394.
https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn235

- Mittman, S. M., & Geyer, M. A. (1989). Effects of 5HT-1A agonists on locomotor and investigatory behaviors in rats differ from those of hallucinogens. *Psychopharmacology*, 98(3), 321–329. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00451682
- National Research Council (US) Committee for the Update of the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. (2011). *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals*. (8th ed.). National Academies Press (US).
- Nautiyal, K. M., & Hen, R. (2017). Serotonin receptors in depression: from A to B. *F1000Research*, *6*, 123. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.9736.1
- Oberlander, C., Demassey, Y., Verdu, A., Van de Velde, D., & Bardelay, C. (1987).
 Tolerance to the serotonin 5-HT1 agonist RU 24969 and effects on dopaminergic behaviour. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *139*(2), 205–214.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2999(87)90253-6

- O'Neill, M. F., Fernández, A. G., & Palacios, J. M. (1997). Activation of central 5HT1B receptors increases locomotor activity in mice. *Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental*, 12(5), 431-435.
- Pentkowski, N. S., Acosta, J. I., Browning, J. R., Hamilton, E. C., & Neisewander, J.
 L. (2009). Stimulation of 5-HT(1B) receptors enhance cocaine reinforcement yet reduces cocaine-seeking behavior. *Addiction Biology*, *14*(4), 419–430. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1369-1600.2009.00162.x
- Perry, K. W., & Fuller, R. W. (1989). Determination of brain concentrations of 8hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino) tetralin by liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *38*(19), 3169–3173. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(89)90609-6
- Przegalinski, E., Filip, M., Papla, I., & Siwanowicz, J. (2001). Effect of serotonin (5-HT)1B receptor ligands on cocaine sensitization in rats. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, *12*(2), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1097/00008877-200104000-00004
- Raymond, J. R., Mukhin, Y. V., Gettys, T. W., & Garnovskaya, M. N. (1999). The recombinant 5-HT1A receptor: G protein coupling and signalling pathways. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *127*(8), 1751–1764. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0702723
- Rojas, P. S., Neira, D., Muñoz, M., Lavandero, S., & Fiedler, J. L. (2014). Serotonin (5-HT) regulates neurite outgrowth through 5-HT1A and 5-HT7 receptors in

cultured hippocampal neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *92*(8), 1000–1009. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23390

- Roth, B. L., Hanizavareh, S. M., & Blum, A. E. (2004). Serotonin receptors represent highly favorable molecular targets for cognitive enhancement in schizophrenia and other disorders. *Psychopharmacology*, *174*(1), 17–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-003-1683-8
- Salokangas, R., Luutonen, S., Heinimaa, M., From, T., & Hietala, J. (2019). A study on the association of psychiatric diagnoses and childhood adversities with suicide risk. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, *73*(2), 125–131. https://doi.org/10.1080/08039488.2018.1493748
- Sarhan, H., & Fillion, G. (1999). Differential sensitivity of 5-HT1B auto and heteroreceptors. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 360(4), 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002109900067
- Sari Y. (2004). Serotonin 1B receptors: from protein to physiological function and behavior. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 28(6), 565–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.08.008
- Sari Y. (2013). Role of 5-hydroxytryptamine 1B (5-HT1B) receptors in the regulation of ethanol intake in rodents. *Journal of Psychopharmacology (Oxford, England)*, 27(1), 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881112463126

- Shaw, D. M., Camps, F. E., & Eccleston, E. G. (1967). 5-Hydroxytryptamine in the hindbrain of depressive suicides. *The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal* of Mental Science, 113(505), 1407–1411. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.113.505.1407
- Siegel S. (1991). Tolerance: role of conditioning processes. *NIDA research Monograph*, (116), 213–229.
- Silveri, M. M., & Spear, L. P. (1998). Decreased sensitivity to the hypnotic effects of ethanol early in ontogeny. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 22(3), 670–676. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.1998.tb04310.x
- Silveri, M. M., & Spear, L. P. (1999). Ontogeny of rapid tolerance to the hypnotic effects of ethanol. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, *23*(7), 1180–1184.
- Sipos, M. L., Bauman, R. A., Widholm, J. J., & Kant, G. J. (2000). Behavioral effects of 8-OH-DPAT in chronically stressed male and female rats. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior*, *66*(2), 403–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-3057(00)00178-7
- Spear L. P. (2000). The adolescent brain and age-related behavioral manifestations. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *24*(4), 417–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0149-7634(00)00014-2

Spetie, L., & Arnold, L. E. (2007). Ethical issues in child psychopharmacology research and practice: emphasis on preschoolers. *Psychopharmacology*, 191(1), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-006-0685-8

Terry, A. V., Jr, Buccafusco, J. J., & Wilson, C. (2008). Cognitive dysfunction in neuropsychiatric disorders: selected serotonin receptor subtypes as therapeutic targets. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *195*(1), 30–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2007.12.006

- Tiger, M., Varnäs, K., Okubo, Y., & Lundberg, J. (2018). The 5-HT1B receptor a potential target for antidepressant treatment. *Psychopharmacology*, 235(5), 1317–1334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-018-4872-1
- Tricklebank, M. D., Forler, C., & Fozard, J. R. (1984). The involvement of subtypes of the 5-HT1 receptor and of catecholaminergic systems in the behavioural response to 8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino) tetralin in the rat. *European Journal* of *Pharmacology*, *106*(2), 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2999(84)90714-3
- Waeber, C., Schoeffter, P., Hoyer, D. *et al.* The serotonin 5-HT1D receptor: A progress review. *Neurochem Res* 15, 567–582 (1990).
 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00973745

Whitaker-Azmitia P. M. (1999). The discovery of serotonin and its role in neuroscience. *Neuropsychopharmacology: official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *21*(2 Suppl), 2S–8S. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(99)00031-7
- Woodall, K. L., Domeney, A. M., & Kelly, M. E. (1996). Selective effects of 8-OH-DPAT on social competition in the rat. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 54*(1), 169–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-3057(95)02137-x
- Yudin, Y., & Rohacs, T. (2018). Inhibitory Gi/O-coupled receptors in somatosensory neurons: Potential therapeutic targets for novel analgesics. *Molecular Pain*, 14, 1744806918763646. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744806918763646
- Zhou, X., Teng, T., Zhang, Y., Del Giovane, C., Furukawa, T. A., Weisz, J. R., Li, X., Cuijpers, P., Coghill, D., Xiang, Y., Hetrick, S. E., Leucht, S., Qin, M., Barth, J., Ravindran, A. V., Yang, L., Curry, J., Fan, L., Silva, S. G., Cipriani, A., ... Xie, P. (2020). Comparative efficacy and acceptability of antidepressants, psychotherapies, and their combination for acute treatment of children and adolescents with depressive disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *The lancet. Psychiatry*, *7*(7), 581–601. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30137-1